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About Parks Victoria

Who We Are

Parks Victoria was established in 1996 and is a statutory
authority that reports to the Minister for Environment. Since
its establishment, Parks Victoria has developed a strong
reputation nationally and internationally as a leading park
management agency.

997  staff

615 emergency wildfire response personnel who work in
partnership with the Department of Sustainability and
Environment (DSE)

120 workcentres (75 per cent in regional Victoria)

What We Manage

Parks Victoria is the custodian of a diverse estate of significant
parks in Victoria and of the recreational management of Port
Philip Bay, Western Port and the Yarra and Maribyrnong rivers.
Specifically the estate includes:

89 national parks

13 marine national parks
11 marine sanctuaries

3 wilderness parks

30 state parks

37 metropolitan parks
63 other parks

(including regional and reservoir parks)

2,785 natural features reserves and conservation reserves

8,400  Aboriginal Affairs Victoria registered Indigenous
cultural heritage sites/places

2,500 (non-Indigenous) historic places

4.1 million hectares (17 per cent of Victoria) — total area

of parks and reserves

Significant Environmental Values

1,131 threatened flora species (68 per cent)
232 threatened fauna species (91 per cent)
19 threatened communities (83 per cent)
109 reference areas (79 per cent)

(Percentage of Victorian Total)
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Brush-tailed Phascogale.

Visitor Services

66.4 milion
36.5 million
29.9 million
14,258 km
3,719 km
59

8

479

555

a7

904

271

52

390
$960 milion

visits per year, comprising:

to terrestrial parks; and

to piers and jetties around the bays
roads

walking tracks

visitor centre buildings

education centres

viewing lookouts

park structures eg. information and picnic shelters
playgrounds

pedestrian and vehicular bridges

vessel platforms eg. piers, jetties, wharves
landings

water access points eg. boat ramps and
rowing launches

navigation aids

net contribution of our parks and reserves

to the Victorian economy

Economic assessment of Recreational Values of Victorian Parks,
Read Sturgess & Assoc. Consulting Economists,1999.



Chairperson’s Foreword

Kathryn Fagg, Chairperson. The Honourable
John Thwaites MP,
Minister for Environment.

Dear Minister

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to submit Parks | would like to thank you, Minister, for the interest and support
Victoria's seventh Annual Report to you. you have shown to Parks Victoria and its staff throughout the
year. | have every confidence that the combination of
professionalism and dedication of staff across the
organisation, and growing community partnerships, will enable
Parks Victoria to deliver key Government priorities to meet
future challenges and community expectations.

The high point of the year was the Government's declaration
of Victoria's new box-ironbark parks and marine national parks
and marine sanctuaries. These new parks will grow in value
and recognition as outstanding parts of Victoria's heritage.

The main challenge this year was the wildfires, the biggest

in Victoria since 1939, that required a huge commitment

from Parks Victoria staff as well as from the Department of Lx‘f ?__
Sustainablity and Environment, the Country Fire Authority and .-?f/ f oy
many other organisations and people. During the fires, Parks [ {_;'I
Victoria continued to meet its responsibilities to the people

of Victoria, whilst facing unparalleled demands on staff time Kathryn Fagg

and energy. The work of Parks Victoria's staff, both during and  Chairperson
after the fires, deserves the highest praise. October 2003

In June the Board farewelled Dr Jane Gilmour after five years
of service as a Board member, Chairperson of the Natural and
Cultural Values Management Committee and a member of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee. Dr Gilmour made a
valued contribution towards all aspects of Parks Victoria's
development as a world-class park manager, and contributed
significantly towards the Threatened Species Program and
State of the Parks reports. My thanks go to Jane for her
commitment and support.
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Chief Executive’s Message

Mark Stone, Chief Executive.

At the start of 2002/03 we looked forward to two significant
increases in Victoria’s protected estate — the new or expanded
box-ironbark parks and the world’s first representative system
of marine national parks and marine sanctuaries. Both were
duly proclaimed and have already been incorporated into our
management systems. However, what nobody could
anticipate was the fury of the fires in north-east Victoria and
East Gippsland. The fact that we had two-thirds of our staff
involved in firefighting, yet still delivered on most of our
programs and services, is a credit to all Parks Victoria staff.

Wildfire Challenge

Over summer Victoria endured the largest wildfires for 64 years,
burning about 1.3 million hectares. Over 600 Parks Victoria
staff contributed some 13,000 person days directly involved
in fire suppression and subsequent recovery planning and
rehabilitation works. Working in close co-operation with other
agencies, particularly Department of Sustainability and
Environment (DSE) and the Country Fire Authority (CFA), the
firefight was an outstanding example of teamwork at its best.
Our firefighters won community and official praise for their efforts
in fire supprression which | would also like to acknowledge
and commend.

The wildfires and rehabilitation programs had a significant
impact on Parks Victoria’s normal programs for the year.
During the wildfire season available resources were applied to
keeping parks open and providing priority services to visitors.
Afterwards, considerable resources were diverted to urgent
recovery and rehabilitation works.

Parks Victoria played a key role in wildfire debriefing sessions
and the Victorian inquiry into the fires, and we look forward
to incorporating recommendations of that inquiry into our
management practices. Parks Victoria staff were also key
participants in the Women in Fires forum.

Marine National Parks and Marine
Sanctuaries

Victoria's world-first fully representative marine conservation
system came into being on 16 November 2002 with the
proclamation of 13 new marine national parks and 11 marine
sanctuaries — accompanied by community celebrations at a
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number of places along the coast. Our new Victorian marine
emblem, the Weedy Seadragon, inspired celebrations on
proclamation day as sand sculptures, art exhibits, face
painting and even cake decorations. As habitat for an
estimated 12,000 plant and animal species, the marine
parks and sanctuaries are the result of years of study and
consultation, and are a wonderful legacy for the future as well
as a magnificent landmark in the history of conservation in
Victoria.

These areas will become as cherished as their terrestrial
counterparts, and attract families, recreational divers and
snorkellers, photographers, educators, researchers and
tourism operators. We have progressed well with planning and
management programs for these marine protected areas and
have recruited 18 marine rangers and specialist staff to
oversee this important work.

Box-Ironbark Parks

Following six years of study and comprehensive community
consultation, 11 new or expanded box-ironbark national and
state parks were proclaimed on 2 November 2002. At that
date our estate expanded by aimost 68,000 hectares and
now includes a new park classification for Australia: a national
heritage park (Castlemaine Diggings National Heritage Park).
Around 1,500 flowering plant species and more than 250
vertebrate animal species have been recorded in box-ironbark
forests, including over 350 endangered species that depend
on box-ironbark habitats. Planning and management programs
have been developed and 20 new positions created for the
ongoing protection of the box-ironbark parks. Parks Victoria

is committed to protecting and enhancing the natural and
cultural values of what remains of the original forests and
woodlands, and welcoming visitors to them.

Indigenous Partnerships

Parks Victoria continued to develop working partnerships

with Aboriginal communities and Indigenous organisations to
protect, manage and interpret Indigenous cultural places and
resources, and to raise awareness of Indigenous heritage and
culture. Demonstrating the importance we place on this work,
we established an Indigenous Partnerships Branch which wil
set the direction for manging our relationships with Indigeneous
people across Victoria. We also developed the Guidelines for
Protection of Cultural Sites to guide our staff in this important
area of our work.

Completed in March, the management plan for Grampians
National Park involved extensive participation by Indigenous
groups in its development, evident in the plan’s emphasis

on Indigenous involvement in managing the park. An agreement
formalising cooperative management arrangements at Brambuk
the National Park and Cultural Centre was reached. The
Victorian Government provided $2.7 million in funding

to ensure the successful integration of the formerly

separate National Park and Brambuk centres.
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Weedy Seadragon.

Sustainable Practices

Parks Victoria continued its Living our Values program to
promote sustainable practices. A highlight was the water
conservation initiatives at Albert Park. Works to increase
stormwater harvesting were undertaken and a sewer-mining
plant was trialled in partnership with Melbourne Water and
South East Water. Our commitment to reducing our
‘environmental footprint’ is exemplified by ensuring that
sustainability is at the core of all our work practices.

International Ranger Federation Congress

One of the year’s successful events was the International
Ranger Federation Congress at Tidal River in March, attended
by 200 rangers from 36 countries. For many of our staff it was
a positive time of recovery and fellowship following the rigors
of the fire season, and many international friendships were
developed in the workshops, tours and other sessions. The
Victorian Rangers Association is to be congratulated on its
capable planning and running of the Congress, which reaffirmed
Parks Victoria’s profile around the world as a leader in park
management.

Looking Ahead

In the coming year we anticipate being able to largely
complete rehabilitation works in the fire-affected areas and will
continue development programs in the marine national parks
and marine sanctuaries and the box-ironbark parks. We wil
welcome the much-needed 50 new regional staff, who will

Mountain Pygmy-possum, survivor of the fires.

enable our current staff to progress critical environmental and
asset management programs and maintain and expand
services to visitors that will ensure the long-term protection
of our magnificent parks system.

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge again not
only those who contributed so much to the firefighting effort,
but also those who remained at home to continue to deliver
our commitments to the community with considerably reduced
resources.

Mark Stone
Chief Executive
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New and Enlarged Box-lronbark Parks

The box-ironbark forests and woodlands of northern Victoria
have enormous environmental values as well as strong cultural
and community ties and traditions. Parks Victoria is committed
to protecting and enhancing the values of the parks that have
been established to preserve the remnants of these forests.

Aboriginal people have lived in these areas for thousands
of years. There are many sites and places of archaeological,
cultural and spiritual significance in the region.

After European settlement, box-ironbark forests and
woodlands were extensively cleared for agriculture,

gold mining, urban development and timber. Today only
17 per cent of the original box-ironbark vegetation remains.

Around 15,00 flowering plant species and more than
250 vertebrate animal species have been recorded in
box-ironbark forests. These include over 350 endangered
species that rely on box-ironbark habitats.

Following a six-year study with comprehensive community
consultation by the former Environment Conservation Council,
eleven new or expanded box-ironbark national and state
parks were proclaimed on 2 November 2002. Parks Victoria
was a key participant in this process. At that date almost
68,000 hectares was added to the parks estate to conserve
and enhance what remains of box-ironbark forests and
woodlands.

The State’s box-ironbark park area now totals more than
105,000 hectares, including a new park classification of
national heritage park (Castlemaine Diggings National Heritage
Park). Planning and management programs have been
developed and 20 dedicated staff appointed for the parks’
ongoing management.

Mature Ironbark woodland.

Wattle flowers.

Existing parks included in new box-ironbark parks

New park Existing park
Chiltern-Mount Pilot NP Chiltern Box-Ironbark NP
Beechworth Historic Park (part)
Greater Bendigo NP Kamarooka SP
Whipstick SP
St Arnaud Range NP Kara Kara SP
Reef Hills SP Reef Hills Park

Photo: Peter Kinchington
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Protecting Victoria’s Natural Environment (continued)

Ongoing Environmental Programs
Environmental Works

Parks Victoria contributed to recovery programs for threatened
species, including the Hooded Plover and Brush-tailed
Phascogale, and re-introduction of the Eastern Barred
Bandicoot, Striped Legless Lizard and Grampians Pincushion.
There were major pest plant programs for continued control
of Ragwort in Mitchell River and Port Campbell National Parks
and Holey Plains State Park, Bridal Creeper in Little Desert
National Park, Horehound in Lake Eildon National Park and
Barmah State Park, and Serrated Tussock in Brisbane Ranges
National Park. An integrated weed control program continued
in Mornington Peninsula National Park. Large-scale predator
control programs were implemented in the Alpine, Wyperfeld
and Hattah-Kulkyne National Parks. Major programs to
maintain low rabbit densities operated in Hattah-Kulkyne,
Wyperfeld and Little Desert National Parks. Catchment

and water management programs focused on minimising

the spread of Phytophthora cinnamomi in Brisbane Ranges
National Park and on revegetation and rehabilitation projects.

Native Animal Management

Programs to control kangaroo and koala populations

continued in several parks where there is a demonstrable

long-term impact on park values caused by over-abundant

populations. These programs followed an established

ecological rationale developed with the support of key

stakeholders. Projects included:

= ongoing management of kangaroo populations in Hattah-
Kulkyne, Murray-Sunset and Wyperfeld National Parks
to achieve vegetation condition objectives

= continuing to manage koala overbrowsing of Manna Gum
woodlands in Mount Eccles National Park until monitoring
showed unacceptable levels of mortality after surgical
sterilisation and relocation. Other methods of control
were investigated.

Fox Adaptive Experimental Management (AEM)
Program

This program has investigated the relative success of differing
intensities and timings of fox control programs in six parks.
Results indicate that continual operations over large areas are
more likely to suppress fox numbers than seasonal or short
term operations over small areas, which has implications

for Parks Victoria’s current fox control programs.

Environmental Action Plans

Environmental Action Plans for Wilsons Promontory and
Grampians National Parks were completed.

Revegetation Programs

Over 15,000 trees have been planted in partnership with
volunteers, community groups, and other agencies in the
Plenty Gorge Parklands as a key stage of the Riparian Biolinks
Project. There was major revegetation programs in the
Sandbelt parks south-east of Melbourne, and an erosion
control program in Lake Eildon National Park.
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Ecological Burning

Major ecological fire programs were implemented in Little
Desert and Croajingolong national parks and Cape Conran
Coastal Park. In addition, draft ecological burn strategies were
produced for Lower Glenelg, Little Desert, Grampians,
Brisbane Ranges, Kinglake and Lake Eildon National Parks.

Ecological Fire Management Research

Parks Victoria is supporting three PhD projects under the
Research Partners Program to investigate the effects of fire

on native flora and fauna. The current projects focus on
researching fire, environmental weeds and fuel loads in native
grasslands, the effects of structural habitat change on small
mammals, and fire and Phytophthora cinnamomi in Grampians
National Park.

Grazing
Grazing Management

The Environmental Condition Monitoring Program in the
Caledonia fire-affected area of the Alpine National Park was
completed for 2002/03. Agreement was reached with the six
licence holders; three licence holders were able to return to
their grazing licence areas in 2002/03 with the full allocation of
cattle. There was extensive analysis of the extent and severity
of the 2003 fires in the grazing licence areas of the Alpine
National Park that will inform post-fire grazing management.

Research has continued into the use of grazing as an
alternative management technique in important grasslands.
A PhD research project has been established under the
Research Partners Program to explore the effects of sheep
grazing in Terrick Terrick National Park.

Planning
Management Planning

Final management plans were approved and released for
Grampians National Park, Yarra Ranges National Park, Cape
Liptrap Coastal Park, Langwarrin Flora and Fauna Reserve and
Anglesea Heathlands. A draft plan for Macleod Morass and
Jones Bay Wildlife Reserve and a discussion paper for the
Dandenong Ranges National Park Management Plan Review
were released for public comment.

The preparation of the management plan for Grampians
National Park, launched in March 2003, included the extensive
participation of Indigenous groups with cultural and spiritual
attachment to the park — the Gournditch-Mara, Kirrae Wurrung,
Wotjobaluk and Brambuk. The plan is acknowledged as a
benchmark for Indigenous involvement in park management
planning.

Progress on implementation of the metropolitan parks Future
Directions Plan Program has seen the release of the Cardinia
Creek Parklands plan in December 2002. Significant progress
was made on draft plans for Dandenong Valley Parklands and
Brimbank Park and Horseshoe Bend, scheduled for release
by December 2003. Planning commenced on the Point Cook
Coastal Park and Cheetham Wetlands Future Directions Plan.



Conservation Reserves Management Strategy

Parks Victoria is responsible for managing some 2,785 areas
of Crown land reserved according to 20 categories as
recommended by the former Land Conservation Council and
Environment Conservation Council. The main categories are
Nature Conservation Reserves, Natural Features Reserves
and Historic and Cultural Features Reserves. These reserves
comprise 13 per cent of the total area managed by Parks
Victoria, represent about 13 per cent of Victoria's protected
area network and are of great importance in protecting
Victoria’s biodiversity and cultural heritage, particularly in
areas where there are few or no parks.

Published in January 2003, this strategy gives an overview

of the reserve estate, explains the origins, categories and
objectives of reserves, and sets out guidelines for legislative
and management arrangements, planning and work programs,
community and stakeholder partnerships, and education

and public awareness about reserves.

Ramsar Planning

Strategic management plans were completed for Western
Port, Port Phillip Bay, Gippsland Lakes, Hattah-Kulkyne and
Lake Albacutya Ramsar sites, and final plans for Barmah
Forest, Gunbower Forest and Kerang Wetlands Ramsar sites
were developed.

Visitor Planning

Introduced in September 2001, the Visitor Number Monitor
(VNM) survey is a system used to monitor the number of visits
to national and other parks and to report on change and
trends in visitation numbers to inform future planning. Using a
sample of 12,000 people from Victoria, interstate, and
overseas, it is a broad-based community survey used to
extrapolate visitation to parks. Surveys are conducted
continuously throughout the year with residents interviewed by
telephone and departing international visitors interviewed at
Melbourne Airport. This system estimates total visitation to
parks at 66.4 million (+/- 9 per cent).

Input and Management of Development and
Planning Proposals

Parks Victoria was involved in a range of planning and
development proposals, including two gas extraction project
proposals developed by BHP Billiton and Woodside, active
involvement in the planning processes for wind farm proposals
along the west Victorian coast (Yambuk, Cape Sir Wiliam Grant,
Portland and Cape Bridgewater) and west Gippsland coastline
(next to Cape Liptrap), a seismic exploration program for oil and
gas within Lower Glenelg National Park, and mineral sands
exploration within the Annuello Flora and Fauna Reserve

and remote natural area.

Healthy Parks, Healthy People.

Building Partnerships to Support
Environmental Programs

Murray River Parklands

As a basis for the future creation of the Murray River Parkland,
Parks Victoria worked with other parties to establish an agreed
vision for co-operation between land and water managers.

Australian Alps Cooperative Management
Arrangements

In May 2003 the Australian Alps Ministerial Council signed
the revised Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the
tri-state Australian Alps national parks. The revised MOU

will strengthen relationships between the three States

and Territories and the Commonwealth in the cooperative
management of the Australian Alps. The new MOU includes
Baw Baw National Park (Victoria) and Tidbinbilla Nature
Reserve (ACT) as the newest additions to the schedule

of Australian Alps national parks

Grey-Headed Flying Foxes

Horseshoe Bend, on the Yarra River north-east of Melbourne,
was chosen as a site for the relocation of flying foxes from the
Royal Botanic Gardens. The bats were successfully relocated
and Parks Victoria is providing ongoing management of the
site, working in partnership with DSE, the Royal Botanic
Gardens and Banyule City Council.

Mornington Peninsula Western Port Biosphere
Reserve

This Biosphere Reserve was approved by UNESCO in
November 2002, the first such reserve to be approved in
Victoria since 1981. The area includes a significant human
population and rural and agricultural lands, as well as
Mornington Peninsula and French Island National Parks.
Together with Mornington Peninsula Shire Council, RMIT
University, the Department of Infrastructure and Phillip Island
Nature Park, Parks Victoria was a founding partner in this
biosphere reserve project, which enjoys strong community
support and the endorsement of five local government areas.

Parks Victoria — Annual Report 2002/03
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Protecting Victoria’s Natural Environment (continued)

Research Partners Conference

The 3rd Annual Research Partners Program Conference
was held at Grampians National Park in November 2002.
The highly successful conference was attended by over
100 people and featured 32 presentations from academics,
students and Parks Victoria staff.

Research Partners Program

A number of research projects were completed, supplying
valuable information for park management. These included a
statewide assessment of the risk of Phytophthora cinnamomi
to parks, a values and risks analysis of west coast estuaries,
assessments of kangaroo populations and/or vegetation
condition at Hattah-Kulkyne National Park, Serendip
Sanctuary, Greens Bush (Mornington Peninsula National Park)
and Reef Hills Park, and strategic assessment of the effects
on parks and reserves of fragmentation by roads and tracks,
as well as the ongoing management of the Fox Adaptive
Experimental Management Program.

Aire River — Working Together

A draft Memorandum of Cooperation for the project has

now been finalised. The project establishes protocols and
consultative processes for the opening of the Aire River estuary
(Otway National Park) during peak flow events. It will be signed
by local landowners, Parks Victoria and both Native Title and
traditional owner groups.

Brolgas are found at several Ramsar sites in Victoria.
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Our Environmental Performance
Sustainable Practices

In taking up the challenge to ‘Live its Values’ and reduce the
ecological footprint of the organisation’s operations and
services, Parks Victoria launched a statewide Eco-Challenge
for all work centres. This initiative provides a focus for the
organisation to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions and
resource consumption in key areas of energy, water, waste
and transport. The Eco-Challenge also encourages staff to
develop innovative sustainable practices and improve
behaviour by conserving resources, using energy efficiently,
preventing pollution, minimising the generation of waste and
recycling resources.

Since the inception of the sustainable practices programs
and Eco-Challenge campaign we have achieved substantial
overall reduction in resource consumption. Over the last
12-month period reductions in consumption of 30 per cent in
water, 15 per cent in paper, 8 per cent in transport (kilometres
travelled), and 4 per cent in in electricity (estimate) produced
significant environmental gains and financial savings to the
organisation. To consolidate gains and further improve its
performance Parks Victoria has introduced a ‘Sustainable
Initiatives Fund’ for the implementation of priority actions over
the coming year. Fifty volunteer staff Eco-Champions located
across the organisation were instrumental in promoting the
Eco-Challenge campaign, providing a focus for continued
staff involvement and innovation in sustainable work practices.
Sustainable practices criteria were incorporated into staff
performance and development plans as a key job requirement.

Ecological footprinting is a concept and tool for measuring
and communicating the progress of an organisation towards
ecological sustainability and reduction in its greenhouse gas
emissions. The sustainable program achievements for the
year resulted in Parks Victoria's overall ecological footprint,
measured as carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions, reducing by
5 per cent.

Transport

Over the last two years the organisation’s fleet of 457 vehicles
has steadily reduced the distance travelled from a peak of
14.3 million kilometres to 12.4 million kilometres. This positive
trend is due to improved work practices and when combined
with other measures such as changes to the fleet composition
mix and alternative fuelled vehicles results in a 2 per cent
reduction in greenhouse emissions.

Specific improvements include:

= The purchase of an additional 11 Toyota Prius hybrid
vehicles. This alternative fuelled vehicles use up to 50 per
cent less fuel and generates 80 per cent fewer emissions
than an equivalent-sized conventional car.

« A further addition of 17 LPG dedicated vehicles to the fleet
thereby increasing the total number to 87.

» The continued change to the composition of the vehicle fleet
to ensure the most efficient vehicle is used for the task. Last
year 18 large 4x4 station wagons were replaced with mid-
sized 4x4 station wagons.



Energy efficiency

Over the last year action focused on awareness raising and
behavioural change for staff through such simple measures as
turning off lights and computers when not required which
resulted in substantial energy savings.

The program delivered additional outcomes such as:

= energy efficiency audits conducted at six major sites
including Werribee Mansion, Albert Park and the city office.

= installation of a renewable energy information touchscreen
in the Tidal River Visitor Centre (Wilsons Promontory National
Park). The screen displays data on the value of renewable
energy as demonstrated in the cabins fitted with solar power
hot water systems.

= replacement of the French Island National Park diesel
generator with a new state-of-the-art solar-diesel generator.
The new generator is 40 per cent more efficient than the old
one, and will pay for itself over six years of cost savings. The
combined energy process results in a net environmental gain.

Water conservation

Parks Victoria exceeded its 10 per cent target managing a
30 per cent reduction in water use in the metropolitan area

in 2002/03. Importantly the practice of topping up Albert Park
Lake ceased. No potable mains water was used during the
summer period.

Extensive investigations were undertaken into improving
sustainable water use at Albert Park, as our major consumer
of water. Facilities water audits by South East Water and
studies by Burnley Horticultural College on water conservation
and turf management were conducted. Investigation of alternate
water options included additional stormwater diversion,
groundwater, seawater and sewer mining (recycled wastewater)
technologies. Stormwater diversion works resulted in increased

flows into the lake with a net saving of about 150 megalitres
of mains water each year.

A demonstration water recycling plant, funded through the
Smart Water Fund, was trialled at Albert Park following a large
consultation study on the community’s views on use of recycled
water in parklands, (see page 22 for detalils).

Environmentally responsible ‘Green’ purchasing
During the year we reviewed components of our purchasing
specifications. This involved incorporating requirements to
purchase environmentally responsible goods and services
whenever practicable to assist us in minimising our impact
on the environment. In practice this initiative has included
purchasing recycled and reusable products, such as re-
manufactured printer toner cartridges and recycled stationery.

Waste and recycling

We have made gains through waste minimisation programs
that encourage staff to reduce, re-use and recycle. Parks
Victoria actively participated as a member of the Victorian Litter
Action Alliance and EcoRecycle Waste Wise committees.
Initiatives were undertaken to reduce both office and visitor
generated wastes included:

» The installation of duplex module printer attachments that
enabled double-sided printing to be carried out at 36 sites.

= Further advances in waste management to address the
camping rubbish and litter issues along the Murray River
Reserves Parklands. Waste recycling stations were
developed at key sites from the Ovens River to Tocumwal
as a joint venture with the Goulburn Regional Waste
Management Group and the Moira Shire. This initiative
resulted in some 200 cubic metres of rubbish being
collected for recycling.

Solar power and hot water systems on a cabin at Wilsons Promontory National Park.

vy

-I‘..a .

£y

—
=3

—F
-

Parks Victoria — Annual Report 2002/03



16

People, Community and @ulttsal Heritage

Cultural activities at Brambuk.

As the manager of places where many Victorians (and visitors
from interstate and overseas) enjoy recreational and cultural
activities, and also the manager of many cultural heritage
sites, Parks Victoria contributes significantly to the social fabric
of the Victorian community. We value this role highly and strive
to manage our resources to provide access for a broad range
of people, activities and occasions while preserving the parks
and other places we manage for future generations

Protecting Victoria’s Cultural Heritage

Parks Victoria manages the most extensive and diverse
collection of cultural heritage places in the State. Many of
these places have special significance to particular groups
within the community but all contribute to the rich tapestry
of Victorian heritage which belongs to us all. Protecting our
shared heritage enables us to learn from the past, explain
and evaluate the present and help shape the future.

Indigenous Heritage

Parks Victoria has engaged with Indigenous communities
around the State to establish and strengthen ongoing
partnerships, and cooperatively preserve and interpret
our diverse Indigenous heritage.

Parks Victoria — Annual Report 2002/03

To develop our organisational focus on liaising with Indigenous
communities, a new Indigenous Partnerships Branch was
established in Parks Victoria in January 2003. This initiative
strengthens support for Indigenous peoples’ input into the
management of Victoria’s parks and reserves in the context
of partnerships with Parks Victoria.

Parks Victoria’s Guidelines for Working with Aboriginal
Communities and Protection of Cultural Sites were
finalised and released. The guidelines inform staff about
compliance with site protection legislation and the Native
Title Act, and include suggestions about consultation with
Indigenous communities.

Following a consultative process, a Future Directions Strategy
was developed for the Tower Hill State Game Reserve. A
Memorandum of Understanding was signed by Parks Victoria,
Moyne Shire, Deakin University, Warrnambool City Council,
Friends of Tower Hill, South West College of TAFE, and

the Worn Gundidj Aboriginal Cooperative to ensure that

the strategy was implemented in a spirit of co-operation

and consultation.



Interpretive talks at Brambuk.

Cross Cultural Training Program

This two-day course enables Parks Victoria staff to learn about
history from an Indigenous perpective and to discuss issues
surrounding their work with respected Indigenous elders and
community members. In 2002-03, its third year of operation,
a further 83 staff completed the program, taking the total
attendees to more than 450, nearly half of all Parks Victoria
staff. The experience gives staff a greater understanding of
Indigenous cultural traditions, which assists them in working
with Indigenous communities and in preserving and presenting
Indigenous heritage.

Brambuk Agreement

Significant progress was made towards the cooperative
management of functions at Brambuk the National Park and
Cultural Centre (Halls Gap) with an agreement between Parks
Victoria and the Chairperson for Brambuk. Formalising this
partnership paves the way to secure a sustainable future

for this highly important cultural resource, which continues

to deliver shared information, interpretation and education
services, including combined school holiday programs.

The State Government provided funding of $2.7 million for
the integration of the facilities of the former Brambuk Cultural
Centre and National Park Visitor Centre. The new integrated
Centre will become the region’s pre-eminent site for the
appreciation of the natural environment and Aboriginal culture
of the Grampians.

Indigenous Employment

The Indigenous Employment Program continued. Two
additional ongoing staff were recruited, taking the total to
28 (3 per cent of the total workforce) across Parks Victoria.
Additionally 25 Indigenous casual staff were employed

in 2002/03.

Indigenous Site Protection Works

Protection works were successfully completed at 13 sites across
the State. Works included stabilisation of shell middens and
artefact scatters, protection of burial sites, and fencing and
boardwalk construction to protect scar trees and other artefacts.

Site protection works were completed at 14 sites of
Indigenous cultural significance in Croajingolong, Hattah-
Kulkyne, Little Desert, Mornington Peninsula, Murray-Sunset
and Wilsons Promontory National Parks, Barmah and Bunyip
State Parks and Nyerimilang Historic Park.

Major Archaeological Surveys

Two major archaeological surveys were completed in
partnership with Aboriginal Affairs Victoria at Coopracambra
National Park and the Loddon River at Vaughan. Six
archaeological surveys in Coopracambra, Little Desert, Murray
Sunset and Wyperfeld National Parks, Cathedral Range and
Kooyoora State Parks and Castlemaine Diggings National
Heritage Park.

Following the major alpine fires, Aboriginal Affairs Victoria
conducted archaeological surveys in the Mitta Mitta valley,
including the Alpine National Park, that revealed a number of
previously unrecorded sites.

Wotjobaluk Native Title Claim

In October 2002 the Government announced it had reached
in-principle agreement with the Wotjobaluk people towards
settling their native title claim in the Wimmera Region. The
total claim area covered 15 per cent of Victoria and included
Little Desert National Park and parts of Wyperfeld National
Park and Big Desert Wilderness Park; the area affected by the
‘Determination’ is about 2 per cent of the total claim area.
Parks Victoria continues to support the Department of Justice
and DSE in the facilitation of mediated outcomes for the
Wotjobaluk Traditional Land Council.

Parks Victoria commissioned Indigenous artist Vicki Couzons
to design the cover of our Guidelines for Working with Aboriginal

Communities and Protection of Cultural Sites (See page 36 for detalils).
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European Heritage

Parks Victoria continued to protect, maintain and present
European heritage sites within the parks estate.

The Impact of the Wildfires

The alpine fires damaged or destroyed a number of historic
sites in the Alpine National Park and several historic reserves,
including the Red Robin Mine, the Maude & Yellow Girl Mine
and 20 historic huts. On the positive sides, the fires also
exposed historic goldmines and settlements, presenting

a unique opportunity to record valuable information about

the people who lived and worked in these isolated locations.
We assessed the extent of fire impacts on heritage assets,
established guidelines for appropriate response to the impacts,
undertook immediate clean-up works, and completed strategic
and project planning in partnership with Aboriginal Affairs
Victoria and relevant Indigenous communities, DSE and
Heritage Victoria.

Parks Victoria is supporting the efforts of the Victorian High
Country Huts Association, which was formed to help preserve
the special heritage of the high country huts and to coordinate
volunteer efforts to help with the restoration or repair of
selected huts. A partnership with the Association is being
established to survey, restore, protect, maintain and interpret
alpine huts into the future.

Quartz Roasting Kilns at the North British Mine, Maldon.
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Heritage Protection Programs

In June 2003, the Premier launched remediation works at the
former Port of Melbourne Authority Workshop and Point
Gellibrand Reserve in Wiliamstown. Parks Victoria negotiated
with the City of Hobsons Bay over major developments and
an agreement was reached on the redevelopment of the
historic precinct.

In partnership with the Living Museum of the West, Parks
Victoria secured heritage funding to undertake essential
maintenance work on the heritage-listed bluestone buildings
in Pipemakers Park.

A portable display on Victoria's First Rangers, which incorporates
artefacts associated with park management, was prepared
for the International Rangers Congress. The display focuses
on some of the early rangers and others who supported and
protected Victoria’s parks.

As part of the planning for the new Mount Alexander
Diggings National Heritage Park, a survey was undertaken,
in partnership with the Mt Alexander Diggings Committee,

to establish levels and pattern of visitation.

A review of the Historic Buildings Management Committee
portfolio was completed in September 2002. The review
identified that only a small number of sites were of strategic
importance to Parks Victoria and that alternative management
arrangements should be negotiated for portfolio properties.

The program of heritage conservation and maintenance work
continued across the State at places such as Buchan Caves

Reserve, Vaughan Springs, Point Nepean, Queenscliff, Whroo
Historic Area, Steiglitz and Woodlands Historic Parks, Wilsons
Promontory Lightstation and Nyerimilang Heritage Park.

Major projects were completed at Cape Otway Signal Station
(restoration works), Pipemakers Park Building 2 (refurbishment),
and Gower School ruins (stabilisation).

The program to catalogue and provide suitable storage for
Moveable Cultural Heritage items continued at Castlemaine
Diggings National Heritage Park, Wonthaggi State Coal Mine
and Wiliam Rickets Sanctuary. Cataloguing was also
commenced at the Lightstations managed by Parks Victoria.



Engaging and supporting the community

Parks Victoria seeks to engage with communities, organisations
and individuals across the State. The Growing Together
Initiative was launched in August 2002 to identify and

pursue ways in which Parks Victoria can further engage

with communities. Through this initiative Memoranda of
Cooperation have been drafted with a range of community
associations, including Mountain Bike Australia, 4WD Victoria,
and Gamecon. Discussions and mutual projects continue

to be pursued with other key community organisations.

Completed in September 2002, the Community Access
Strategy outlines initiatives to encourage the use of parks

by different cultural communities, and to ensure that programs
that support multi-cultural involvement become an integral part
of a park’s annual works program.

Healthy Parks Healthy People Program — an invitation to
participate in the program was extended to national agencies
at the Parks and Leisure National Conference in Melbourne in
September. With the assistance of Parks Victoria, the Sydney
Urban Parks Education & Research (SUPER) Group will launch
its HPHP campaign in October 2003.

Over $1million was distributed through the Agency Grants

Program to works targeted at implementing priorities identified
in the Linking People + Spaces Strategy. These included:

Royal Botanic Gardens (Cranbourne) for improved
interpretation

* Merri Creek Committee of Management for undertaking
work to re-establish and maintain indigenous grasslands
along Merri Creek

e Cambodian Association of Victoria for the continued
implementation and expansion of an Ethnospecific
Environment Education Program

* Mornington Peninsula Shire Council for the construction of
a 700 metre walking trail to complete the linear walking trail
from Mount Martha beach to The Briars Park.

The 2002/03 Community Grants Program distributed funds
to community groups for a range of projects including:

* Brambuk Aboriginal Cultural Centre — for the development
of brochures for Brambuk the National Park and Cultural
Centre and also the educational services of the centre

* Friends of Morwell National Park — for improvements to
visitor facilities at the Kerry Road Picnic Area

* Friends of Warrandyte State Park — for monitoring
threatened flora and weeds in Warrandyte State Park

* Malleefowl Society of NW Victoria — for monitoring of
Malleefowl in Wyperfeld National Park.

The Werribee Precinct Project completed a two-year
commitment to achieve improved co-operation with

the various stakeholders associated with Werribee Park.
Successful projects include:

= a proposed 400 hectare regional park on the lower
Werribee River which has been incorporated in the
Melbourne 2030 urban planning framework for metropolitan
Melbourne

Volunteers at Clean-up Australia Day at Point Cook Coastal Park.

e planned linkages between Werribee township and the
Werribee Tourist precinct via shared trails along the
Werribee River

« plans for extending the Bay Trail from Point Cook Coastal
Park to Werribee South (and the proposed regional park
on the Werribee river)

» assisting Victoria’s Open Range Zoo in establishing the
successful Safari Camp experience

an integrated recreation plan at You Yangs Regional Park
for mountain bikers, horse riders and day trip visitors.
Grants Program 2002/03

Number of Projects  Total Funding

Start-up grants 8 $3,888
Volunteer group grants 140 $652,416
Community grants:

- Environment 54 $192,803
- Heritage 15 $57,400
- Recreation 29 $137,476
- Community awareness 20 $89,428
- Increasing multicultural diversity 4 $18,752
Subtotal community grants 122 $495,859
Total community grants 270 $1,152,163
Agency grants:

- Environment 3 $154,000
- Multicultural 6 $170,900
- Recreation 4 $298,593
- Trails 5 $536,685
Total agency grants 18 $1,160,178
Total grants program 288 $2,312,341
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Contributions Made by Volunteers

Volunteers and community groups support environmental
works, the protection of cultural values and visitor services
in many parks and reserves. Some 187 Friends Groups and
more than 100 other community groups continued to give
generous and substantial support, a total of 96,580 hours,
during the year. Examples of the many contributions made
by volunteers during the year include:

« the Camp Host Program in 18 parks, which enables
individuals to obtain practical experience in park and visitor
management while assisting visitors in campgrounds

= the contribution of international volunteers, as part of
the International Student Program, to a wide range of
activities including archaeological digs, pest plant control,
pest plant mapping, water testing and revegetation in
Dandenong Ranges National Park. Volunteers have also
undertaken a variety of minor research projects including
identification of platypus habitat and mapping of ilegal tracks

= the contribution of the Friends of Baw Baw National Park
to eradicating introduced willows on the Baw Baw Plateau.
In the last three years willows at 146 locations in and
around the plateau have been treated

« the assistance of several volunteer community groups in
the creation of an interpretive walk around Anakie Gorge
and revegetation programs at several sites in Brisbane
Ranges National Park. Volunteers also assisted with
monitoring ecological burn sites and walking track
maintenance within the park

= the contribution by the Friends of Grampians-Gariwerd
in support of the Fox Adaptive Experimental Management
Project in Grampians National Park. Members spent 27

No Sweat, at least in the making

As part of our ‘Living our Values’ program, when we
decided to purchase T-shirts for our firefighters to work in
we commissioned the Hunter Gatherer label to supply
the T-shirts. Formed by the Brotherhood of St Laurence,
Hunter Gatherer have ‘No Sweat Shop’ accreditation and
can display the No Sweat Shop label in its clothes. The
label is an assurance that clothes are made under fair
conditions, not sweat shop conditions

Six hundred ‘No Sweat Shop’ T-shirts were distributed
to Parks Victoria fire staff in time for the fire season.
These ‘No Sweat Shop’ T-shirts are one way that we
are endeavouring to ensure that our operations deliver
the best social and environmental outcomes based
on sustainable principles.
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person days in the mammal trapping component of the
program. The Friends also assisted with other trapping,
identification and data collection during the program.

Individuals including secondary school, university and TAFE
students and community groups also contributed to projects
including:

« walking track maintenance in the Alpine National Park

e preparation and placing of hair funnels in connection with
Eastern Quoll surveys and vegetation mapping in Kinglake
National Park

e re-marking and clearing trails in Mount Buffalo National
Park.

Support for Volunteers

Initiatives were developed and implemented to increase the
recognition and involvement of, and support for, voluntarism
in the Victorian park system. Exchange trips for friends and
volunteers were organised, including three day-trips to Bunyip
State Park and Kurth Kiln, Ocean Grove Nature Reserve and
the State Coal Mine at Wonthaggi. Parks Victoria also presented
the 2002 Kookaburra Awards to Tim Allen, Don Marsh,
Colin Walker and lan Weir in recognition of their significant
contributions to park management.

In order to assist the promotion of marine national parks and
marine sanctuaries, Parks Victoria supported the establishment
of Friends Groups for Barwon Bluff and Jawbone marine
sanctuaries. Working with Friends of Barwon Bluff Marine
Sanctuary and teachers we developed an education CD-ROM
to focus on learning opportunities for schools in the marine
sanctuary.

Deb Prentice wears a No Sweat fire
T-shirt with Rob Black and Serena
Lillywhite, Manager Ethical Business
for Brotherhood of St Laurence.




Enhancing the Outdoor Experience

Parks Victoria manages a diverse collection of places across
the State and aims to ensure that they are protected and
maintained for the enjoyment of people now and in the future.
We develop and improve facilities such as trails, camping
areas and lookouts, enabling more people to access the
parks while protecting environmental values. We develop
and distribute information that helps people enjoy, and at the
same time learn about, the places we manage. Through our
Information, Interpretation and Education programs we
encourage people to understand and support our
management objectives and reduce the impact of their
recreational activities on the natural and cultural values of
the places they visit.

Improving and Developing Facilities

Part of our responsibilities includes ensuring that sites are
maintained and, where necessary, upgraded in response
to a growing number of visitors to ensure facilitate a safe

and enjoyable experience for all visitors while ensuring the
sustainablility of the system.

Making and connecting trails

* The open space strategy for Melbourne, Linking People +
Spaces was launched in September 2002 at Ray Bastin
Reserve in Narre Warren. The strategy proposes six new
parks and a 1,200km metropolitan trail network. As a key
action in the strategy, construction of Stage 1 of the Plenty
River Trail has commenced at Yarra Valley Parklands. The
trail links the existing Main Yarra Trail through to Martins
Lane in Viewbank.

« Stage 1 of the Great Ocean Walk, stretching 91km
through the spectacular Otway and Port Campbell National
Parks, the Great Ocean Walk now almost completely links
Apollo Bay and Glenample Homestead. Parks Victoria
delivered a significant works program for the walk this year,
using the skills of staff and volunteers. Twenty-three
kilometres of existing tracks were upgraded and a further
14.5km of new track constructed incorporating boardwalks,
viewing platforms, steps and rockwork. Other works included
rehabilitation of degraded areas, the installation of signage
and the production of a Parknote for Stage 1 of the walk —
Apollo Bay to Cape Otway. We are pursuing the next phase
of track and campsite development which will provide a
platform for realising the vision for the walk. This includes
enhancing opportunities to develop partnerships with the
tourism industry, local business and the community which
has shown great interest in and support for the project.

e The Southbank Trail Link on the south bank of the Yarra
River under the Charles Grimes Bridge was completed
in partnership with the City of Melbourne and the MIRVAC
Group. This is an important section of the Capital City
Trail and links the entertainment precinct of the south
bank with the new residential developments in the
Docklands area.

« The Geelong Strategic Tracks and Trails Program was
completed. The strategic plan and on-ground works were
undertaken in partnership with the City of Geelong.

The plan identifies trail inkages needing urgent upgrade to
meet current shared pedestrian/bicycle usage standards
and safety criteria.

The Octopus Garden Trail, a 200 metre marine trail
under Rye Pier, opened in October 2002 as a joint venture
between Parks Victoria, Transfield, Mornington Peninsula
Shire Council and Visions of Blue.

Works programs

Works undertaken during the year for new or improved visitor
facilities and to minimise visitor impact on natural and cultural
values include:

Inadequate sewerage systems — were replaced in three
toilet blocks along the Rosebud Foreshore Reserve, and
upgraded at Lake Catani Campground and Mount Buffalo
Chalet (Mount Buffalo National Park). A wastewater
treatment plant was commissioned at Tidal River, Wilsons
Promontory National Park, to supply potable water to
campers and comply with the proposed safe drinking
water requirements.

Buchan Caves — Stage 2 of improvement works was
completed at Buchan Caves, including the extension and
upgrading of the visitor centre, upgrading of the emergency
communication system to the caves, replacement of a
major set of access stairs in Royal Cave, review of the
cave electrical reticulation system, and design of a cave
lighting upgrade for Royal Cave.

Planning Our Asset Management

An external assessment of the condition of Parks Victoria’s
visitor assets was completed, estimating Parks Victoria's asset
replacement and maintenance liabilities over the next 25 years.

A condition survey report focusing on about 1,300km of priority
roads prepared in December 2002 will assist in prioritising
future road renewal and maintenance works across the

park system.

The long-term program aimed at improving park access roads
continued during the year. VicRoads funding was allocated to
major park access road projects in Chiltern-Mount Pilot,
Grampians, Greater Bendigo, Lake Eildon and Yarra Ranges
National Parks and Cathedral Range, Lerderderg, Werribee
Gorge and (the former) Whipstick State Parks.

The Great Ocean Walk.
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Saving our precious water

The water in Albert Park Lake is primarily sourced from
rainfall within the park and stormwater from surrounding
suburbs. During summer Albert Park Lake loses up to
50 per cent of its water to evaporation, and historically
the water level during this period has been maintained
with mains water. Over summer we did not top up the
lake, and have committed ourselves to finding other
ways of maintaining its the level in the future. Works on
the stormwater system have significantly increased the
volume of stormwater diverted into the lake.

In partnership with Melbourne Water and South East
Water, Parks Victoria investigated the possibilities of
using recycled water from the adjacent sewerage system
to irrigate parkland and help top up the lake. In May

the Minister for Environment, John Thwaites, officially
announced the trial of a Water Recycling Plant at Albert
Park. Drawing waste-water from the South Yarra main
sewer that runs under Albert Park Drive, the plant plant
removes nutrients and viruses to produce highest quality
Class A standard water. Approximately 30,000 litres of
treated water were produced each day.

Water recycling technology such as that being trialed

at Albert Park could lead in the long-term to savings of
millions of litres of clean fresh water for Victoria; especially
important in given the concerns with climate change, low
rainfall and drought conditions.
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The membrane bioreactor treatment plant
at Albert Park.

Minister Thwaites with a sample of the
recycled water.
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Four Wheel Drive Program

Four Wheel Drive Program funding was allocated to projects in
Croajingolong, Greater Bendigo, Hattah-Kulkyne, Lake Eildon,
Little Desert, Mount Eccles, Wyperfeld and Yarra Ranges
National Parks, Angahook-Lorne, Carlisle, Cathedral Range,
Mount Arapiles-Tooan and Mount Samaria State Parks, and
Lake Albacutya Park. These projects enabled four wheel drive
access to be maintained and environmental outcomes to be
improved by upgrading track surfaces, improving drainage
and repairing creek crossings and bridges.

Access and risk management

The safety of park visitors is a paramount objective for Parks
Victoria. With a diverse range of park settings and recreational
activities to manage, and an ageing suite of park facilities and
infrastructure to maintain, we have developed a broad-ranging
and systematic approach to visitor safety.

Risk management works undertaken during the year included
risk mitigation works in Grampians National Park and on
elevated structures in Croajingolong and Mount Buffalo
National Parks. Bridges in Kinglake, Lake Eildon, Mount Buffalo
and Alpine National Parks and lookouts at Whroo Historic
Reserve were upgraded.

An Asset Management System (AMS) was implemented and a
staged roll-out commenced. The AMS proved vital in post-fire
evaluation of visitor assets in the affected areas of parks, and
is being used to program works for critical risk assets across
the State.

Managing and Improving Opportunities for
Boating

As manager of Victoria’s new marine national parks and
marine sanctuaries, and recreational manager of Port Phillip
and Western Port, Parks Victoria aims to improve access and
opportunities for boating while protecting the natural and
cultural values of the places in its care.

Marine national park and marine sanctuary boundary
markers

A system for in-water boundary marking (where practical) and
on-shore boundary marking was developed and implemented.
In-water boundary marking has been completed with
permanent seaward boundary piles installed at Jawbone,
Point Cook and Ricketts Point Marine Sanctuaries, French
Island Marine National Park and the Swan Bay component of
Port Phillip Heads Marine National Park. Shore boundary
markers were installed for all marine national parks and
sanctuaries. In addition, signage showing park and sanctuary
locations, natural values and boating information was in place
before proclamation.

Major works

The Bays Major Works Program focused on works at
Queenscliff Slipway, Sorrento Pier rehabilitation, additional low
landings at Chinaman’s Hat, Mordialloc Creek Baffles, works
at Portarlington, and further implementation of the navigational
review and works.



Stage 1 works on the Ferguson Pier at Willamstown were
completed including demolition of the old pier and rebuilding
the new pier.

Gem Pier Redevelopment — 60 metres of floating
landing was installed, extending the pier at Wiliamstown
by 21 metres. Additionally inshore recreational landings
were constructed and minor dredging works undertaken.

Barwon River rehabilitation works (Stage 2) — launched

in October 2002, these works, funded by the Corangamite
Catchment Management Authority and Parks Victoria, include
a new boat launching/retrieval pontoon, fishing platform,
shared trail, mangrove regeneration plots, riparian revegetation
and interpretive signage.

Continued preparations for redevelopment of the Queenscliff
Harbour Precinct included a call for Expressions of Interest
from suitable developers able to provide funding in partnership
with the State Government. A detailed feasibility study which
investigated technical and environmental issues in relation

to the redevelopment was also completed.

Funding for upgrade works to the Queenscliff Slipway was
announced by the Government in October 2002. Investigations
by Parks Victoria had determined that upgrades were

needed to improve facilities for the recreational boating and
commercial fishing industries and to ensure the facility is
operated within OH&S workplace practices and conditions.

An effective and market-priced Mooring Licensing Program
was finalised in May 2003. The licensing of boat moorings
on Port Phillip and Western Port will be phased in over three
years, beginning in February 2004.

Yarra River

In February 2003 we commissioned an eight-week trial of

a free shuttle boat service on the Yarra River between
Federation Square and the Melbourne Exhibition Centre. More
than 67,000 passengers enjoyed the service and discussions
were held with the business community regarding the potential
to continue the service.

Parks Victoria implemented key recommendations from the
Office of Regulatory Reform Report on Yarra River Traffic,
including development of a Yarra River Waterway Committee
and establishment of scheduled berthing and shared ticket
facilities, and conducted a review of trading vessel permits.
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Sailing at Albert Park Lake.

Informing and Educating our Visitors

Our information, interpretation and education (II&E) programs
continued to assist in visitor management, enjoyment and
safety. They help in protecting natural and cultural park
values, and in promoting understanding and support for park
management policies and practices.

Information

Telephone

A comprehensive telephone information service about parks
across the State was again offered through our 24-hour
Information Centre (telephone 13 1963). 129,834 calls
were received during the year, an increase of 6 per cent

on the previous year. The increase is partly attributed to calls
relating to the north-east and Gippsland wildfires. During
these fires, Parks Victoria provided a key information service
for concerned residents and visitors seeking current details
about the fire situation.

The Minister launched a new service, Bush Telegraph,
(telephone 13 2874 or 13 BUSH) in April 2003 for reporting
suspicious or destructive behaviour in the bush that could
place land, property or people at risk. Calls to this service
are received by the Parks Victoria Information Centre.

Our website (www.parkweb.vic.gov.au) supplied a growing
amount and range of park and visitor information. The site
received 740,638 visits, an increase of 74 per cent on the
previous year. It included valuable information about track and
visitor site status for people planning to go to fire-affected areas.

Parknotes and other brochures in both paper and electronic
form were produced, and a number were updated.

A new A3 parknote was developed for the box-ironbark parks.
New information about marine national parks and marine
sanctuaries included parknotes for each new park, several of
which were translated into eight languages; special notes on
marine park and sanctuary boundaries, management planning
and guidelines for fishing and diving; and updates of the
popular publications Boating on the Bay and Boating on
Westernport. Advertisements placed in coastal radio and print
media alerted recreational fishers about the new marine park
regulations.
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Interpretation

Face-to-face interpretation is a particular focus for staff

during school holiday periods. Approximately 22,000 people
participated in interpretive activities this year, an increase from
last year thanks to the contribution of partners. These partners
included Coast Action/Coastcare, the Marine Discovery Centre
(Queenscliff) and the Melbourne Aquarium delivering interpretive
programs for the new marine protected areas over the
summer period.

Interpretive programs at Grampians National Park (Gariwerd)
were redeveloped to reflect the integrated Brambuk the
National Park and Cultural Centre.

Friends groups also conducted interpretive activities in several
parks, such as the popular Chaffey Nights and other dramatic
presentations at Woodlands Historic Park.

Marine national parks and marine sanctuaries have featured at
a number of major community events and festivals including
the Rip Curl Pro Surfing Competition at Bells Beach, Festival
of the Sea at Barwon Heads, and World Environment Day
events around the coast. Coastal seminars were conducted in
conjunction with Coast Action.

New interpretive displays were developed for the Organ
Pipes National Park Information Centre, the redeveloped
Buchan Caves Information Centre, and also in Wyperfeld and
Hattah-Kulkyne National Parks and their surrounding towns.
Ten interpretation panels were installed in the Dragonfly
structure at Karkarook Park. New interpretive signs were
developed for the Main Yarra Trail at Pettys Orchard and
Tikalara Park. At Port Campbell National Park and Bay of
Islands Coastal Park interpretive signs were replaced and
updated to include key environmental messages.

Mobile banners were developed and distributed to coastal
visitor information centres to raise awareness of the new
marine national parks and marine sanctuaries.

Industry Partnerships were enhanced or developed through
dialogue, presentations and workshops with a number

of organisations including the Victorian National Parks
Association, Coast Action/Coastcare, Fishcare, Fisheries
Victoria, Marine Discovery Centre, Department of Education

Interpretation programs

Interpretation: promoting understanding of our natural environment.

and Training, Gould League, Phillip Island Nature Park,
Ecologic, Dolphin Research Institute and the Victorian
Association for Environmental Education.

Parks Victoria supported two Deakin University students
undertaking a Marine Education Scholarship initiated by the
Dolphin Research Institute on behalf of the Centre for Marine
Education Excellence. The primary research focuses on marine
national parks and marine sanctuaries.

Park Activities Participants
Marine national parks Guided walks, rockpool rambles, slide shows and presentations 9,540
and marine sanctuaries*

Cape Conran CP Guided walks, slide shows, rockpool rambles, children’s activities 445
Dandenong Ranges NP Guided walks, slide shows, children’s activities 948
Grampians NP Guided walks, slide shows, spotlight walks 5,890
Kinglake NP, Lake Eildon NP, Nature walks, spotlight walks, campfire nights 255
Cathedral Range SP

Mornington Peninsula NP Nature walks, heritage walks 485
Mount Buffalo NP Nature walks, campfire nights 136
Wilsons Promontory NP Junior Rangers, Indigenous cultural talks, rockpool rambles, spotlight walks 3,939

* Delivered by Parks Victoria or by partner organisations such as Coast Action/Coastcare.
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Parks Victoria co-ordinated workshops with marine education
providers to develop an agreed minimal impact code of
practice for groups delivering II&E programs in marine national
parks and sanctuaries. The code was trialled over summer
and reviewed for future use by Licensed Tour Operators.

The Interpretation and Education Manual was completed
as a resource for Parks Victoria staff.

Education

Victorian Youth Development Program and Curriculum
Standards Framework (CSFIl) compliant education activities
were delivered by Education Officers and rangers around the
state. Programs were provided for school students of all levels.

Parks Victoria was also involved in the professional
development of educators through presentations at
conferences and workshops for teachers in Outdoor
and Environmental Education, Geography and Science.

With support from the Department of Education and Training,
Parks Victoria committed to ongoing employment for
Education Officers at Grampians and Wilsons Promontory
National Parks.

Education centres

The education centres in Dandenong Ranges, Grampians
and Wilsons Promontory national parks provided programs to
some 12,000 students, including 11,229 fee-paying students
and about 500 Victorian Youth Development Program,
Environment Corps and local outreach program participants.

The education section of our website continued to be a major
source of education materials about parks, and teachers use
it increasingly to contact staff, gather information and make
bookings for education services.

Other highlights of the 2002/03 education programs were:

* expansion of the marine program at the Wilsons
Promontory Education Centre to include materials and
activities related to marine national parks and marine
sanctuaries

= development of further resources on Indigenous heritage at
Dandenong Ranges, Grampians and Wilsons Promontory
national parks

= information sessions on the new marine national parks and
marine sanctuaries

« three student career information days at the education
centres

* participation with local schools in Arbour Day activities
= work experience program support.

Educational activities at Wilsons Promontory National Park.

Events

Albert Park hosted the inaugural World's Greatest Pram Stroll
on 5 October 2002. It was organised by Parks Victoria as part
of the Healthy Parks Healthy People Program to encourage
new mothers to use parks and to help counteract social
isolation. Partners for the event included the Maternal and
Child Health Services, Municipal Association of Victoria,
Department of Human Services, Australian Breastfeeding
Association and the Sunday Herald Sun.

Parks Victoria hosted the recent international surf competition,
the Bells Beach Rip Curl Surf Classic, at Bells Beach (part of
Point Addis Marine National Park) and at Johanna Beach
(Otway National Park).

Parks Victoria participated in many successful events such
as the Royal Melbourne Show, Moomba on the Yarra and the
Australian Formula One Grand Prix at Albert Park. Additionally
we supported organisers of numerous community events
across the State.
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Media Partnerships

We have continued to work closely with appropriate media to
convey information about the parks network, consequently
encouraging support for our custodial role of protecting our
parks, bays and waterways.

The Herald Sun and the Sunday Herald Sun provide positive
media support for community events such as The Worlds
Greatest Pram Stroll, and features to assist in the recovery of
fire affected areas in regional Victoria by encouraging people
to visit the north-east and Gippsland.

The Grampians Wonderland
Eco-Shuttle Bus

In its role as managers of a magnificent system of
parks and reserves, Parks Victoria seeks to find a
balance maximising the protection of the natural and
cultural values of the reserved areas, and providing
opportunities for people to enjoy and learn about these
special places. In some locations at peak times such
as long weekends, visitor numbers create significant
pressures on the natural environment and also have an
impact on visitor enjoyment.

An example of balancing these commitments was the
development of an Eco-shuttle bus service in the
Wonderland Range area of the Grampians National Park.
In a partnership between Parks Victoria, Friends of the
Grampians Gariwerd and the Northern Grampians Shire,
trial use of the Eco-shuttle reduced the use of private
cars by about 1,200km per day during a trial. Staffed by
volunteers, the bus ferried around 180 visitors each day
from Halls Gap to the walking tracks in the Wonderland
Range. In addition to the reducing number of cars on
the roads, the 18-seater bus service reduced overall
vehicle emissions and carpark congestion, and created
an opportunity for visitors to learn about the environment.

Promoting the Eco-shuttle in partnership.
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Marcia Johns, a Parks Victoria ranger, continues to be a
regular presenter on Channel 9's popular Postcards program,
promoting recreational opportunities in the context of important
conservation and environmental messages.

We have supported the community’s commitment to our
parks though the ongoing ABC Radio ‘Get Involved’ program
in which we encourage Victorians to ‘Get Involved’ in park
Friends Groups. The ABC is partnering 40 varied organisations
and Parks Victoria is the key organisation under the
Environment theme.

Announcements by the Minister have also attracted a large
of amount of media coverage including the comprehensive TV
and print coverage achieved for the declaration of marine
national parks and marine sanctuaries in November 2002, the
installation of a water recycling plant at Albert Park drawing
from Melbourne’s waste water system. and the launch of the
new bush reporting service ‘Bush Telegraph’.

Licensed Tour Operators

Licensed tour operators continued to play a key role in
encouraging tourism and recreation in Victoria by facilitating
access to public land and by promoting its values and
appropriate use.

As at 30 June 2003, 220 tour operators, were licensed to
conduct guided activities on public land across Victoria. This
figure is less than last year, a key factor being the increased
cost and difficulty of obtaining public liability insurance. Operators
conducting activities in parks involving ropes, water or horses
appear to be having the most difficulty in obtaining suitable
public liability insurance.

Licensed tour operators were given the option of suspending
their licences until 31 December 2003 to assist in their
decision on whether to continue in the industry.

The 2003 wildfires highlighted the important role that public
land plays in tourism. The fires affected 64 licensed tour
operators, mostly in the north-east of the state. Parks Victoria
and DSE worked closely with the Victorian Tourism Operators
Association and the tourism industry on the bushfire recovery
effort and on encouraging visitors to return to fire-affected
regions, including the parks. Forums were conducted with
operators and the tourism industry, including a two-day
workshop for operators at Dinner Plain focused on interpreting
for visitors the impacts of the fires for visitors.

Several fire-affected tour operators assisted Parks Victoria in
assessing visitor sites after the fires. This gave Parks Victoria
the benefit of the skills and knowledge of experienced people,
provided operators with some income, and on both sides
helped enhance appreciation and understanding of the
bushfire recovery effort.

From 16 November 2002, tourism operators using the 24
new marine national parks and marine sanctuaries required
a tour operator permit under the Act. Parks Victoria is
continuing to work with the tourism industry to facilitate

a smooth transition for this important industry sector.



Park Victoria’s People
The Board Members

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the governance of
Parks Victoria and determines the strategies and policies to
be adopted. The Board comprises a Chairperson and no
more than eight members. Members are appointed by the
Governor in Council, on the recommendation of the Minister,
for a period not exceeding three years, but are eligible for
reappointment. The Board operates in accordance with the
provisions of the Parks Victoria Act 1998.

Members provide a disclosure of interests to the Board
Secretary. In the event of a conflict of interest or a direct

or indirect pecuniary interest in any matter before the Board,
the member must disclose his or her interest and may not
be involved in discussion or voting.

The Board is responsible for directing and monitoring the
business on behalf of the Minister and the State Government
of Victoria. Day-to-day responsibility for operations and
administration is delegated by the Board to the Chief
Executive and his executive team. Members of the executive
team and key staff are invited to Board meetings when their
areas of operational responsibility are considered. Members
receive regular written management reports and presentations
on corporate and business activities. Members participate in
site study tours in addition to regular monthly meetings. These
tours and meetings are designed to enhance the members’
knowledge of Parks Victoria’s business and to assist them in
assessing the performance of the organisation and senior
officers.

Chief Executive

The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board following
consultation with the Minister. The performance of the Chief
Executive is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

Independent Advice

Members are encouraged and expected to raise all matters
with the Board with a view to resolving any differences of
opinion. A member may request the Board to seek legal
advice or may seek this advice independently. Members
have no automatic right to reimbursement of the cost of
independent advice, but may be reimbursed with the prior
approval of the Chairman or the Board. No member obtained
independent legal advice during the year.

Board Committees

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The primary role of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee is to assist the Board in fulfiling its responsibilities
relating to financial reporting, accounting, risk management
systems, operational control practices and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. The Committee’s terms of
reference include facilitating communication between the
internal and external auditors and the Board to maintain open
communication among the Board, auditors and management.

The Audit Committee comprises Kathryn Fagg (Chair),
Rosemary Martin, Jane Gilmour, Geoff Wescott and Peter

Galbally QC. The terms of reference set out requirements for
the committee’s composition. Senior financial management
and PriceWaterhouseCoopers, internal auditors, attend Audit
Committee meetings. Representatives from the external
auditors also attend meetings annually. The terms of reference
provide for unlimited access to auditors and senior
management and enable the committee to seek independent
advice if necessary.

The committee meets four times a year and may meet more
frequently if required.

Natural and Cultural Values Committee

This committee meets four times a year to receive detailed
reports and presentations and makes recommendations to
the Board. The committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities in maintaining or improving the condition of
natural and cultural values and resources and evaluates the
effectiveness of key strategies, systems and policies. The
membership comprises Jane Gilmour (Chair), Kathryn Fagg,
Don Saunders, Esmai Manahan and Geoff Wescott.

Visitor and Recreation Values Committee

This committee assists the Board in fulfiling its responsibilities
in providing services and built assets for visitors and evaluates
the effectiveness of key strategies, systems and policies. The
members of the Visitor and Recreation Values Committee are
Pam Robinson (Chair), Don Saunders, Rosemary Martin and
Esmai Manahan. It meets four times a year.

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on remuneration arrangements,
terms of employment for executives and strategic workforce
issues. Remuneration is set at levels consistent with State
Government policy. The committee comprises Peter Galbally
(Chair) and Pam Robinson, and meets biannually and as
required. The Chief Executive attends by invitation.

After the meeting of any committee, a report is provided
to the Board.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting the policies
and internal control framework, with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee focusing on detailed aspects of
internal control. Corporate policies are reviewed regularly and
are available to all employees through the intranet.

Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management.
Parks Victoria has adopted a strategic approach to managing
risk and has formulated a Risk Management Plan. The plan
provides the processes and framework for managing risk in
a consistent manner across Parks Victoria. During the year
Parks Victoria continued to monitor its total business risk
exposure though the risk profiling program.

The annual review of the organisational risk profile has been
completed. New risk management software has been
purchased and is currently being trialled.
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People, Community and Cultural Heritage (continued)

The Board

Kathryn Fagg, BE, MComm
(Chairperson)

President Market & Logistics Solutions, BHP Steel

With wide experience gained throughout Australia and New Zealand, Ms Fagg brings to the
Board diverse skills gained through senior strategic roles held in the petroleum, consultancy
and banking industries. Ms Fagg has served on the Boards of the ANZ Banking Group
(New Zealand) and ANZ Investment Services (New Zealand).

Geoff Wescott, B.Sc (Hons), M.Sc. (Melb), MSc., Dip Nat Cons (Lond), PhD (Deakin),
MIB, FEIA

(Deputy Chairperson)

Associate Head of School of Ecology and Environment, Associate Professor,

Faculty of Science and Technology at Deakin University

Dr Wescott is the former Convener of the National Parks Advisory Council, with a Ph.D.

in Environmental Policy and Management, M.Sc. in Nature Conservation, M.Sc. in Marine
Zoology. He is the writer of numerous park publications including A Field Guide to Wilsons
Promontory Marine and National Park.

Peter Galbally, QC, BA, LLB
Barrister, Victorian Bar

Mr Galbally specialises in civil, medical and immigration law. He was appointed Queen’s
Counsel in 1989. He is a Foundation Trustee of Law Aid Victoria and has been Chairman
of the Barristers’ List Committee D Victorian Bar.

Mr Galbally has explored Australia’s park system extensively and has owned and operated
a number of farming properties in south east Australia. He is currently a consultative
member of the Murrumbidgee Catchment Area Review Committee in New South Wales.

Jane Gilmour, PhD, FAICD
Executive Director, Earthwatch Institute Australia

Dr Gilmour brings to the Board extensive experience as Director of Earthwatch Australia, an
organisation that supports a significant international program of natural and environmental
field research. Dr Gilmour is a member of the National Environmental Consultative Forum,
has served on a number of boards and was a member of the Culture and Heritage
Reference Group for the Federal Government's first State of the Environment Report
released in 1996.
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Esmai Manahan
Manager Koori Business Network

Ms Manahan brings with her extensive experience in the field of Indigenous development
and welfare, arts, tourism, education, training and administration. In her current role as
Manager of the Koori Business Network, she has built on her 15 years of leadership
experience in developing, managing and evaluating a range of successful community driven
and managed projects and programs. Ms Manahan is a current member of the Koori
Horticultural Project Steering Committee (Mildura); Life Member, Margaret Tucker Hostel for
Indigenous Women; Chairperson, Indigenous Arts Management, Victorian College of the
Arts and Member, Diversity at Work Aboriginal Employment Program.

Rosemary Martin BA (Hons), LLB (Hons), LLM, MAICD
Special Counsel, Francis Abourizk Lightowlers

Ms Martin brings to the Board extensive experience in environmental law and Government,
gained in both the public and private sectors. In the early 1990s Ms Martin was a founding
member of the Environment and Planning Practice of a national law firm. On her return to
Melbourne from Sydney, she worked with the (then) Department of Health and Community
Services before taking up the role of Solicitor to the Environment Protection Authority (EPA)
Victoria. Ms Martin has since left the EPA to return to private legal practice, where she
advises in environmental, commercial and technology law.

Pamela Robinson, OAM

Ms Robinson brings with her extensive experience from farming, forestry, local Government
and community development. She is a former Land Conservation Council and National
Landcare Advisory Committee member and was Chair of the State Plantations Impact
Study. Ms Robinson, a former Shire President, has had participation in all levels of local,
regional, state and national decision making bodies, particularly in natural resource
management. She was awarded the OAM in 1990 for services to local Government

and conservation. Now Melbourne based, she retains agricultural land in the north east

of the State.

Don Saunders, B.Agri. Sc.

Mr Saunders was the Director of National Parks for 15 years, former Chairman of the
Land Conservation Council and Environmental Conservation Council and now works
part-time as the Conservation Coordinator at the Bird Observers Club of Australia. He

has been a member of the National Parks Advisory Council, Reference Area Advisory
Committee, Murray Darling Basin Commission and National Landcare Advisory Committee,
a Commissioner for the Alpine Resorts Commission, and is currently a Trustee of the Trust
for Nature and a member of the Birds Australia Strategic Conservation Committee. He has
been awarded the Public Service Medal — Australia Day Award in 1996 for outstanding
public service to the development and management of Victoria’s National Parks, the 1998
Parks Victoria Kookaburra Award for outstanding contribution to Victoria’s park system; the
National Medal for fire services, and a Churchill Fellowship.
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People, Community and Heritage (continued)

Executive Management

(Left to right) Mark Stone, Neil McCarthy, Geoff Bray, Gerard O’Neill, Michonne van Rees, lan Christie, Geoff Vincent, Di Kinsey (Executive
Assistant), Brett Cheatley, Trevor Miles. Not pictured: Fiona McAuliffe and Stuart Ord.

The Office of the Chief Executive supports the Board and
Chief Executive, manages Freedom of Information, legal services
and support to the Government and Minister responsible

for Parks Victoria.

The National Parks Division manages the research, strategic
planning and organisation-wide programming for the
conservation, protection and enhancement of the natural and
cultural values of the terrestrial and marine estate; and the
development of partnerships with the indigenous community.

The Metro Parks and Bays Division manages the research,
strategic planning and organisation-wide programming for the
development of metropolitan parks, river and bay recreational
facilities. It is responsible for the statewide management of
infrastructure, the delivery of recreational and tourism services
and new infrastructure projects.

The Corporate Strategy and Services Division manages the
short and long-term ‘whole of business’ corporate planning;
the recruitment, development and support of staff; internal
and external corporate communications; and the delivery of
administration, financial, information technology and other
support services.

The Commercial Business Division manages the
establishment, and monitors the performance, of commercial
facilities, and the planning and programming for pay-for-use
services on the Parks Victoria estate, with a view to ensuring
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that such activities comply with policy and governance
requirements and enhance the visitor experience of the estate.

The five Regions manage the on-ground delivery of services
throughout the estate, including environmental and cultural
values conservation, protection and enhancement programs,
asset maintenance, fire and emergency services support,
visitor and tourist services, and recreational programs.

Staff
Profile

As at 30 June 2003, Parks Victoria had 997 direct employees
comprising 886 ongoing full time and part time staff, 43 fixed-
term staff and 68 casuals. In comparison, 30 June 2002,
Parks Victoria had 1,040 direct employees comprising 964
ongoing full time and part time staff and 76 casual staff.

The Indigenous Employment Program resulted in two new
Indigenous staff joining Parks Victoria on an ongoing or fixed-
term basis, taking our total Indigenous staff numbers to 28.

Under the Seasonal Ranger Program 40 seasonal rangers
were again recruited to run visitor services programs during
the busy summer period. Their training program covered a
general introduction to Parks Victoria, interpretation,
occupational health and safety and basic wildfire awareness.
An additional 45 short term staff were employed to assist with
capacity during the difficult fire season.



Organisational Chart

Mark Stone

Executive Management Team

Fiona McAuliffe

Gerard O’Neil Geoff Bray Michonne van Rees

Stuart Ord Brett Cheatley Trevor Miles lan Christie

Staffing trends
2002/03 2001/02

Average sick days taken per employee 4.8 4.27
Occupational Health and Safety

- Lost time (days) injuries per employee 0.62 0.60
- Number of claims per employee 0.07 0.06

Employee Relations
Total days lost in industrial disputations 0 0
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People, Community and Heritage (continued)
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Staff Development

Leadership development training continued at all levels of the
organisation with the introduction of a Senior Leadership and
Management Style Program. This program focuses on the
specific skills and behaviours required of senior management.
The Focused Manager Program continues for new supervisory
staff as they are appointed to management positions. Focus
on Personal Leadership Program continues for staff members
below supervisory level. It is expected to take a further four
years for all staff to go through this program.

The Deakin Degree in Park Management is supported by
Parks Victoria through a scholarship scheme for up tp three
staff each year. In 2002/03, 19 staff were enrolled part time in
this course.

Recognition of Service

Parks Victoria continued its program of recognising and
rewarding the valuable contribution staff make to the
management of our park system through years of service.
A range of recognition items such as badges has been
established to acknowledge the achievements of longer-
serving staff.

Supporting Staff

Workforce Management

Parks Victoria has entered into a three-year partnership with
Dorothy Farmer Personnel (DFP) Recruitment Services to
provide a range of human resource services. DFP is a well
established recruitment company with an extensive network
throughout rural Victoria. This initiative is part of an ongoing
process to improve recruitment services within Parks Victoria.

International Ranger Federation (IRF) Fourth World
Congress

The IRF fourth World Congress was organised by the Victorian
Rangers Association and held at Wilsons Promontory NP in
March 2003. More than 200 delegates from across Australia
and 35 overseas countries included 28 delegates from
developing countries who were subsidised to attend using
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funding attracted from a variety of sources including UNESCO.
The Congress was officially opened in Melbourne by the
Governor of Victoria, John Landy, with Senator Bob Brown
giving the keynote address. The theme of the congress was
Rangers at Work — Improving the Practice, and the focus was
on practical skills for rangers in managing protected areas
and on sharing ideas and experiences from protected areas
around the world. Parks Victoria was the major sponsor of this
very successful event.

Equal Opportunity

Parks Victoria continued its implementation on the three-year
Equal Opportunity Management Plan 2002/04, to raise and
maintain awareness and understanding of equal opportunity
and to eliminate barriers to equal opportunity within the
organisation. Approximately 370 staff participated in equal
opportunity awareness training at 26 sessions in various
locations.

Parks Victoria is commited to ensuring compliance with
legislation and the develpoment of a working environment that
is free from discrimination and harassment of any kind.

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)

Parks Victoria continued to implement the priority actions of
the OH&S Strategic Framework, including the implementation
of an OH&S Management System and conducting asbestos
audits at workcentres. The OH&S Statewide Project Team,
created to ensure communication, consistency and
compliance with legislation, produced guidelines and
procedures for staff to conduct risk assessments relating to
plant and equipment, and to manual handling.
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Tarra Bulga National Park.

Organisational Performance

In order to be respected in our role as custodian of a
magnificent collection of parks and reserves on behalf

of all Victorians, Parks Victoria is commited to continuous
improvement to incorporate the best of international park
management experience into our daily work.

Information Technology Improvements
IT improvements included:

= our new Payroll system replaced the previous outsourced
service with savings in administrative time and direct costs

« data exchange with DSE for updating employee and vehicle
information in the Fires database was automated to improve
accuracy of information

« electronic Funds Transfer for payment of suppliers to
streamline administrative payment processes was
implemented

e remote system access was improved by implementing
a secure Internet access to PV systems.

Awards

In recognition of Parks Victoria’s performance as park
manager, a range of programs were recognised through
awards. These include:

= at the Parks and Leisure National Conference in
Melbourne, Parks Victoria was awarded the association’s
national Innovation and Best Practice Award for its Healthy
Parks, Healthy People Program

» The State Coal Mine Wonthaggi was awarded a Certificate
of Merit at the 3rd Annual 2003 Phillip Island and
Gippsland Discovery Tourism Regional Tourism Awards
Gala Dinner in May 2003

* Parks Victoria nominated the Grampians National Park
planning process with Indigenous communities for a
Leadership in Diversity Award 2003. This was done in
partnership with the Wotjobaluk, Gournditch-Mara, Kirrae
Wurrung and Brambuk communites and Mirimbiak Nations
Aboriginal Corporation. Parks Victoria together with the
communities was one of the successful finalists.
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Responsibly Managing Our Resources (continued)

Corporate performance measures 2001/02

Actual

Area treated in parks to eradicate or control pest plants

2002/03
Target

Exceeded

and animals (hectares 000’s) 111-129 266* .
National Park Act parks (Schedule 2 — National, Wilderness

and State Parks) with approved management plans (per cent) 100 93 932

Number of Indigenous cultural heritage sites/places and

non-indigenous historic places where works/surveys

are undertaken 67 65 553

Proportion of Indigenous staff (per cent) 3 4 4

Total number of visit days (million) 65.6 66-69 66.44

Victorians that have visited a Parks Victoria

managed park over the past 12 months (per cent) 74 71-76 70

Number of Parks Victoria personnel required to assist

in wildfire preparedness and suppression 556 556 615 .
Incident rate (no. of reported OH&S incidents/no. of staff)

(per cent) 18 18 20°

Number of training days per employee 10 10 8.5

Water use (megalitres) 770 700 320° .
Completion of business plan priority actions 93 95 | 84 (98" o’
Community satisfaction with Parks Victoria as an

environmental manager (‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 92 90-95 84

Community satisfaction with management of National,

State, Regional Parks & Conservation Reserves

(‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 91 88-93 81

Community satisfaction with management of historic

places (‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 94 92-97 97

Community satisfaction with mgmt of major metropolitan

parks, bays and waterways (‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 91 88-93 88

Community satisfaction with adequacy of recreational

opportunities (‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 90 87-92 92

Visitor satisfaction: Parks (weighted index) 68 68-73 72

Visitor satisfaction: Piers (weighted index) 53 54-59 62 o
Visitor facilities with greater than 5 years life expectancy (per cent) 90 85 82°

Marine structures with greater than 5 years

life expectancy (per cent) 87 88 86"

2WD drive access roads in ‘fair’ to ‘good’ condition (per cent) 90 90 71+

Compliance with model of cover requirements (per cent) 100 100 100

Community satisfaction with Parks Victoria as an efficient

manager (‘good’ or ‘very good’ per cent) 94 91-96 91

1 Increase in ha treated due broad scale programs including Fox AEM and dogging programs.

g %e;;i??; gu; Otg ;r:’al ggr(:i;i.on of Box-ironbark parks, marine national parks and marine sanctuaries.

4 Target range was based on a different estimation methodology.

g TDTJZ ltnoCii?ner;to :/aetz B?:Cit?géga:r?g v(\j/:& rt(:;gg{;;ajﬁ;i awareness and the impact of the wildfires.

; gzgg\éigg g&igritg 3grtri10r?1ﬁ ;xltpvgfé:pr:%tnc&rg%gt;:a icljcrfﬁets(,). resources being directed to fire response.

9 Impact of 2003 wildfires.

10 Loss of major asset (Mornington Pier) due to storm event and program not fully complete due to redirection of resources to wildfires.
11 Target set on sample of condition data. Full assessments have been made throughout the year and sample data was not representative.

The 2002-03 data sets a robust benchmark for future assessment.
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Corporate Compliance
Freedom of Information

We received 17 requests for documents and information
under the Freedom of Information Act 1982. All were
responded to in a timely and professional manner.

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

Since the commencement of the Act in January 2002, no
disclosures have been received by Parks Victoria.

Building Act

All new works are managed in accordance with the provisions
of the Building Act 1993. Parks Victoria is reviewing its
compliance with this legislation in relation to existing buildings
as part of our wider asset management responsibilities.

An asbestos audit has been completed and most works

to remove identified asbestos has been completed with

the remainder in progress.

Sponsors

Parks Victoria would like to thank the following organisations
for their support: 3AW, 3LO , Fox-FM, Channel 9, Sunday
Herald-Sun.

Consultants

The number of consultants engaged in 2002/03 whose value
exceeded $100,000 was nil. The total number of consultants
engaged was 9 with a total value of $40,566.

Additional Parks Victoria Information

Other relevant information, in relation to the financial year,

is retained by the accountable Parks Victoria officer and is
available to the minister, Members of Parliament or the public
on request.

National Competition Policy

In July 2002, PriceWaterhouseCoopers finalised a report and
Cost Allocation Model to allow Parks Victoria to initally review
and introduce market based fees and charges to its various
sites whilst taking into account, public benefit and legislative
objectives and requirements.

The model has been used to review boat berthing and
mooring fees in Port Phillip and Western Port. It is anticipated
that following appropriate consultation, revised fees for these
services will be introduced during calendar 2004. The model
will now be applied to other fees and charges across sites
under the responsibility of Parks Victoria with the objective of
implementing appropriate pricing changes in the 2004-05
financial year.

Changes to the Park System

There were very significant additions to the parks system
during the year, totaling about 124,000 hectares.

On 30 October 2002, the National Parks (Box-ironbark and
Other Parks) Act 2002 amended the National Parks Act with
the additionof nearly 68,000 hectares included in five new or
expanded national parks (Chiltern-Mount Pilot, Greater
Bendigo, Heathcote-Graytown, St Arnaud Range and Terrick
Terrick), five new or expanded State parks (Broken-Boosey,
Kooyoora, Paddys Ranges, Reef Hills and Warby Range) and
Castlemaine Diggings National Heritage Park. Several existing
parks were included in the new parks. There were also several
excisions from existing parks: several roads from Chiltern
Box-ironbark National Park, Kamarooka, Kooyoora and
Whipstick state parks and Beechworth Park; three shooting
ranges from Reef Hills Park; and land more than 100 metres
below the surface from Deep Lead Flora and Fauna.

On 16 November 2002, the National Parks (Marine National
Parks and Marine Sanctuaries) Act 2002 amended the
National Parks Act to create 13 marine national parks and 11
marine sanctuaries. They cover 53,776 hectares or 5.3 per
cent of Victoria's marine waters.

In November 2002, the Mornington Peninsula and Western
Port Biosphere Reserve was designated by UNESCO, the first
new biosphere reserve in Australia since 1981. The biosphere
reserve includes in its core area Mornington Peninsula and
French Island national parks, Arthurs Seat State Park, Churchill
Island, French Island and Yaringa marine national parks and
Mushroom Reef Marine Sanctuary

Approximately 2,160 hectares were added to Mitchell River
National Park.

The addition of the two lighthouse reserves (49 ha) at South
East Point and Citadel Island to Wilsons Promontory National
Park, and the designation of the Southern Wilsons Promontory
Remote and Natural Area (14,400 ha) and the inclusion of
Citadel Island (19 ha) in the Wilsons Promontory Islands
Remote and Natural Area, meant that for the first time, the
whole of Wilsons Promontory and all of the adjacent islands
are included in the national park.

Legislative Framework

Under the Parks Victoria Act 1998, Parks Victoria’'s
responsibilities are to provide services to the State and its
agencies for the management of parks, reserves and other
land under the control of the State. With the approval of the
Minister, it may also provide services to the owner of any other
land used for public purposes for the management of that
land. The Act requires that Parks Victoria must not act in a
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Responsibly Managing Our Resources (continued)

way that is not environmentally sound in carrying out its
functions.

Overall arrangements regarding the relationships and
responsibilities for the provision of services to the Department
of Sustainability and Environment (DSE) are set down in a
Management Services Agreement between Parks Victoria,

the Minister for Environment and the Secretary of DSE. Parks
Victoria’'s management services are delivered within State
policy, contractual agreements and the specific responsibilities
and powers of the Secretary of DSE under the recently
amended National Parks Act 1975. In addition to the
Management Services Agreement, Parks Victoria provides
management services to Yarra Bend Trust (to manage Yarra
Bend Park) and Melbourne Water (to manage reservoir parks).
These agreements are between the respective client
organisations and Parks Victoria and are covered under the
broader arrangement for service provision to DSE.

Parks Victoria is responsible for managing:

« all areas reserved under the National Parks Act 1975 and
open space, parks and waterways under section 110 of
the Water Industry Act 1994

* nominated Crown land reserved under the Crown Land
(Reserves) Act 1978
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= conservation reserves reserved under the Crown Land
(Reserves) Act 1978 and managed in accordance with
approved land use recommendations under the Land
Conservation Act 1970

» areas reserved under the Heritage Rivers Act 1992

« ten of Victorias 11 Ramsar sites and planning for these
sites in partnership with DSE

e piers and jetties in Port Phillip Bay and Western Port and
recreational boating on these bays pursuant to powers
conferred by the Marine Act 1988 and the Port of
Melbourne Authority Act 1958

= other areas as specified under the Parks Victoria Act 1998.

Regulations

The Park Regulations 1992 sunset on 30 June 2003. New
National Park (Parks) Regulations 2003 were proclaimed

by Governor-in-Council on 29 June following an extensive
re-drafting process with DSE over two years and preparation
of a Regulatory Impact Statement which was released for
public comment during May 2003.

Vicki Couzens’ design, used for the cover of the Guidelines for working with
Aboriginal Communities and Protection of Cultural Sites, is titted Mangnoorroo
watanoo ngathoongan meereeng. This title translates ‘We come from the
land’. The work depicts the landscape from the sea shore through the forests,
plains, swamps and wetlands to the hills and the mountains. The circles
represent camp sites, ceremonial grounds and special or sacred dreaming sites.
Surrounding these sites are plants that are used for food, medicines or fibres.
This is a symbolic view of Country representing our perspective of the land

as our home, our place of belonging; where we come from.

Photo credits: Kate Elzinga, Nevile Fowler, Alan Johnson, Michael May,
Murray Lane, Ken Stepnell, Mike Sverns.
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Auditor’s Report

X

AUDITOR GENERAL
VICTORIA

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S REPORT

To the Members of the Parliament of Victoria, the responsible Ministers and the Members of the
Board of Parks Victoria

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the Audited Financial Report

This audit report relates to the financial report of Parks Victoria for the financial year ended 30 June 2003
included on Parks Victoria’s web site. The Chief Executive of Parks Victoria is responsible for the
integrity of Parks Victoria’s web site. I have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Parks
Victoria’s web site. The audit report refers only to the statements named below. An opinion is not
provided on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from these statements. If users
of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they are
advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information included in the
audited financial report presented on this web site.

Audit Scope

The accompanying financial report of Parks Victoria for the financial year ended 30 June 2003,
comprising a statement of financial performance, statement of financial position, statement of cash flows
and notes to the financial statements, has been audited. The Members of the Board are responsible for the
preparation and presentation of the financial report and the information it contains. An independent audit
of the financial report has been carried out in order to express an opinion on it to the Members of the
Parliament of Victoria, responsible Ministers and Members of the Board as required by the Audit Act
1994.

The audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The audit procedures
included an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the
financial report, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates. These
procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, the financial
report is presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements in Australia, and the financial reporting requirements of the Financial
Management Act 1994, so as to present a view which is consistent with my urderstanding of the
Authority’s financial position, and its financial performance and cash flows.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Audit Opinion

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia, and the financial reporting requirements
of the Financial Management Act 1994, the financial position of Parks Victoria as at 30 June 2003 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

.

MELBOURNE g( J.W. CAMERON
22 August 2003 Auditor-General

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office Level 34, 140 William Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000
Telephone (03) 8601 7000 Facsimile (03) 8601 7010 Email comments @ audit.vic.gov.au Website www.audit.vic.gov.au

Auditing in the Public Interest
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Statement of Financial Performance
for year ended 30 June 2003

2003 2002

Notes $’000 $’000
REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Revenue From Operating Activities
Parks & Reserves Trust Funding 4 56,416 59,659
Government Funding 5 46,394 39,713
Assets Provided from External Parties at Nil Consideration 6 1,002 151
Other Revenue 7 22,927 18,715
Total Revenue From Operating Activities 126,739 118,238
Revenue From Outside Operating Activities
Interest Revenue 769 1,132
Proceeds on Sale of Plant, Equipment and Motor Vehicles 124 94
Total Revenue From Outside Operating Activities 893 1,226
Total Revenue From Ordinary Activities 127,632 119,464
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Operations 119,621 115,620
Parks Victoria Grants Program 1,912 3,793
Depreciation 10 6,988 6,783
Total Expenses From Ordinary Activities 128,521 126,196
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (889) (6,732)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Asset Revaluation Reserve 17 233,020 0
Total changes in equity other than those resulting from
transactions with owners as owners 232,131 (6,732)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Postion
at 30 June 2003

2003 2002

Notes $’000 $’000
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 3 12,333 7,030
Receivables 11 2,274 2,934
Prepayments 12 225 262
Total Current Assets 14,832 10,226
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 11 92 92
Fixed Assets 13 831,764 600,232
Total Non-Current Assets 831,856 600,324
TOTAL ASSETS 846,688 610,550
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors and Accruals 14 10,941 10,687
Provisions 15 5,954 5,777
Total Current Liabilities 16,895 16,464
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 15 11,912 10,982
Total Non-Current Liabilities 11,912 10,982
TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,807 27,446
NET ASSETS 817,881 583,104
EQUITY
Contributed Capital 16 287,067 284,421
Asset Revaluation Reserve 17 538,435 305,415
Retained Earnings 18 (7,621) (6,732)
TOTAL EQUITY 817,881 583,104

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2003

2003 2002

Notes $’000 $’000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Parks Charge 56,416 59,659
Receipts from Government for Operations 52,254 41,615
Receipts from Customers/Other Sources 19,502 19,206
Interest Received 740 1,088
Receipts Relating to Goods and Services Tax 12,411 11,168
Payments to Suppliers and Employees (115,295) (112,097)
Payments to Parks Victoria Grants Program (2,538) (3,582)
Payments to Government for Revenue Collected from National Parks (4,756) (5,181)
Payments Relating to Goods and Services Tax (11,519) (11,729)
Net Cash from Operating Activities 19 7,215 147
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment (4,682) (6,734)
Receipts from Government — Contributed Capital 2,646 0
Proceeds on Sale of Plant, Equipment and Motor Vehicles 124 94
Net Cash used in Investing Activities (1,912) (6,640)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 5,303 (6,493)
Cash at the Beginning of the Year 7,030 13,523
Cash at the End of the Year 12,333 7,030
Consisting of:
Committed cash 8,255 6,441
Non committed cash 4,078 589

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

These notes form part of and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of Parks Victoria for the year ended
30 June 2003.

1.1 Establishment
Parks Victoria was formed as a public authority on 3 July 1998 under the Parks Victoria Act 1998. The Parks Victoria Act 1998
was given Royal Assent on 26 May 1998 and was proclaimed on 3 July 1998.

1.2 Objectives and Funding
The objective of Parks Victoria is to provide an outstanding park and waterway system, protected and enhanced, for people,
forever.

Parks Victoria receives the majority of its funding from the Victorian Government for the management of Victoria’s National/State
Parks and Reserves and the Parks and Reserves Trust for the management of metropolitan parks and waterways. The Trust is
funded by a charge levied on properties within the metropolitan area.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
2.1 General

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, as amended and incorporate
Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional requirements.

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

2.2 Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual and a going concern basis. Unless otherwise stated, values
reported are stated at historical cost. Revenue is brought to account as detailed in the Revenue Recognition policy (note 2.8).

Asset Recognition

Parks Victoria only recognises assets on land it controls as the committee of management. Parks Victoria also manages other
assets on behalf of the Crown. Those assets and any new assets constructed by Parks Victoria on behalf of the Crown are
recognised in the asset register of the Department of Sustainability and Environment.

Asset Valuations

For the purposes of Government accounting, independent valuations are undertaken every year through a systematic three-year
progressive revaluation process. The valuations are undertaken by the office of Valuer-General Victoria, on the basis of asset
class specific methodologies as the means of assessing the fair value of assets controlled by Parks Victoria.

Parks Victoria’s policy is to value Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements, Buildings and Improvements, Piers, Jetties and
River Improvements and Antiques at fair value. Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements form one class of asset.

Parks Victoria has completed year one of a systematic three-year progressive revaluation process, moving progressively to
revalue all classes of assets at fair value except for Plant, Equipment and Machinery, Motor Vehicles and Other, which are
valued at cost.

Revaluation gains, per asset class, are taken to the Asset Revaluation Reserve. Revaluation losses, per asset class, are written
back against the revaluation reserve for that asset class. If no revaluation reserve exists for that asset class the loss is taken to
the Statement of Financial Performance.

Assets acquired from other government entities are recorded at either the value shown in the statement of financial position of
the acquired entity or at an estimated fair value.

Crown Land

The financial statements list the location and values of Crown Land over which Parks Victoria is the committee of management
(note 13.2). This Crown Land remains the property of the State of Victoria.

Crown Land is used for heritage and environmental conservation, recreation, leisure, tourism and navigation.

2.3 Depreciation

Depreciation is applied to completed fixed assets including Land Improvements, Buildings and Improvements, Piers, Jetties and
River Improvements, Plant, Equipment and Machinery, Motor Vehicles and Other. Land and Antiques are not depreciated.

Works in Progress is valued at cost and depreciation commences on completion of the works.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost or revalued amount of each non-current asset over its
expected useful life to the entity.
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Depreciation rates are reviewed annually and, if necessary, adjusted to reflect the most recent assessments of the useful lives of
the respective assets.

The expected useful life of each asset category is the same as the previous year and is as follows:

Asset Category Expected Life (Years)
Buildings and Improvements 50
Piers, Jetties and River Improvements 20-50
Land Improvements 10-20
Plant, Equipment and Machinery 10
Motor Vehicles 4
Other 3.3-10
2.4 Leasing

Operating leases are not capitalised, as Parks Victoria does not substantially assume all the risks and benefits associated with
the leased assets.

Operating lease payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the periods in which they are incurred, as
this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets.

2.5 Employee Benefits

Employee benefit on-cost expenses such as payroll tax, superannuation, workcover and other minor on-costs have been
included in the recognition of the following liabilities:

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at
future remuneration rates in respect of employee services rendered up to that date.

Sick leave payments are charged as an expense when incurred and no provision is made for sick leave entitiements in the
financial statements.

Long Service Leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised based on the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
service provided by employees up to the reporting date. The basis for calculating the current liability for long service leave is a
percentage of the total provision based on prior experience and expected future payments.

Superannuation

The majority of Parks Victoria employees are covered for superannuation by the Local Authorities Superannuation Board, the
Government Superannuation Office and VicSuper Pty Ltd.

The range of employer contribution rates to these funds is between 9 per cent and 18 per cent. There are no loans between
the Super funds and Parks Victoria.

Parks Victoria contributes, as recommended by the Actuary of each fund, an agreed percentage of total salaries and wages to
the Funds.

There are no unfunded liabilities in respect of Parks Victoria employees who are members of the superannuation schemes. The
last actuarial assessment for the Water Industries sub-plan, administered by the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd.,
was performed on 31 December 2002.

The Unfunded Superannuation Liability relating to Parks Victoria staff, who are currently members of the State Superannuation
Funds administered by the Government Superannuation Office, are assumed by the Department of Treasury and Finance.

2.6 Receivables

Trade receivables are carried at amounts due less a provision for doubtful debts. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised to
the extent that recovery of the outstanding receivable balance is considered less than likely. Credit sales are normally on 30-day
terms.

2.7 Creditors and Accrued Expenses

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the entity.
Trade liabilities are normally settled on 30 days from statement or earlier.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.8 Revenue Recognition Policy

Parks Charge revenue is recognised when invoiced by Parks Victoria. Other revenue, including external funding/grants, is
recognised when invoiced or when received.

Where the external grants/funding received has not been expended and a reciprocal agreement exists, whereby the revenue is
required to be repaid if not used or an asset transfer to the external party is to occur upon completion of the asset, Parks
Victoria records this revenue as deferred revenue.

2.9 Recoverable Amounts of Non-Current Assets

As Parks Victoria is a not-for-profit entity the recoverable amounts test in the Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1041
“Accounting for the Revaluation of Non-Current Assets” has not been applied.

2003 2002
$’000 $’000
3. Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and cash at bank.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and cash at bank.
Cash 12,333 7,030
Total Cash 12,333 7,030
4. Parks & Reserves Trust Funding
The Parks & Reserves Trust Funding is a charge levied on commercial
and domestic properties throughout the Melbourne and metropolitan area,
the majority of which is paid to Parks Victoria.
Parks Charge 54,416 55,466
Land Sales 2,000 4,193
Total Parks & Reserves Trust Funding 56,416 59,659
5. Government Funding
National/State Parks and Reserves funding 40,541 33,862
Program Initiatives (including 4WD, Good Neighbour and Rabbit Buster programs) 1,791 1,897
Capital Works for the Department of Sustainability and Environment 3,457 3,954
Capital Works for the Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development 605 0
Total Government Funding 46,394 39,713
6. Assets Provided From External Parties at Nil Consideration
Assets transferred from the Department of Sustainability and Environment 1,002 0
Assets transferred from Rosebud Foreshore Committee of Management 0 147
Other 0 4
Total Assets Provided from External Parties at Nil Consideration 1,002 151
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2003 2002

$’000 $’000
7. Other Revenue
Accommodation/Camping fees 3,927 3,839
Funding sponsored by external parties 643 1,925
Government Grants 2,063 1,320
Rent, Leases & Licences 3,680 3,325
Park entrance fees 1,431 1,783
Yarra Bend Trust 1,456 1,437
Services provided to the Department of Sustainability and Environment 876 1,035
Fire Suppression costs, recovered 5,289 1,071
Other 3,562 2,980
Total Other Revenue 22,927 18,715
8. Total Operating Expenses
Labour* 58,489 51,004
Materials 4,164 5,317
Transport 6,805 6,118
Contracts 25,986 29,320
External Services 15,359 15,220
Payments to Government for Revenue collected from National Parks 5,069 5,378
Other** 2,682 1,947
Payments for works sponsored by external parties 1,067 1,316
Total Operating Expenses 119,621 115,620

* Includes contributions to the Superannuation Funds amounting to $4.21 million (last year $3.86 million). At the reporting date there were outstanding
contributions owing of $15,046.
** Includes loss on sale of assets (refer note 19) with a net book value of $167.96 thousand.

9. Parks Victoria Grants Program

Payments are made to Local Government, Other Agencies, Community Groups
and Program Operating Costs 1,912 3,793

Total PV Program 1,912 3,793

10. Depreciation

Land Improvements 2,823 2,758
Buildings and Improvements 1,757 1,753
Piers, Jetties and River Improvements 1,526 1,448
Other 882 824
Total Depreciation 6,988 6,783
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2003 2002
$’000 $’000
11. Receivables
Gross Receivables 2,530 3,153
Provision for Doubtful Debts (164) (127)
(An amount of $15,645 was written off to Bad Debts during the year)
Net Receivables 2,366 3,026
Disclosed as:
Current Assets 2,274 2,934
Non-Current Assets 92 92
Net Receivables 2,366 3,026
12. Prepayments
Prepayments 225 262
Total Prepayments 225 262
13. Fixed Assets
13.1 Asset Category
Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements
Crown Land
Opening Balance 487,202 487,202
Additions 1,002 0
Revaluations 204,911 0
Closing Balance — Crown Land (at fair value) (note 13.2) 693,115 487,202
Land and Land Improvements
Opening Balance 52,507 46,121
Additions 747 6,386
Revaluations (17,398) 0
Closing Balance - Land and Land Improvements (at fair value) 35,856 52,507
Closing Balance — Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements (at fair value) 728,971 539,709
Accumulated Depreciation — Land Improvements
Opening Balance 10,233 7,475
Depreciation for the Year 2,823 2,758
Revaluations (9,708) 0
Closing Balance Accumulated Depreciation — Land Improvements 3,348 10,233
Net Book Value — Land and Land Improvements 32,508 42,274
Net Book Value — Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements 725,623 529,476

For and on behalf of the office of the Valuer-General Victoria, the valuer, G.M. Brien & Associates Pty. Ltd., determined that
the most appropriate methodology for the revaluation of Crown Land, Land and Land Improvements at fair value, was to
assess the land based on comparable sales values and add to this the depreciated replacement or reproduction cost of any
improvements, giving due consideration to size, zoning and current use.
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2003 2002

$’000 $’000
Piers, Jetties and River Improvements
Opening Balance 23,330 22,543
Additions 1,752 787
Revaluations 16,376 0
Closing Balance Piers, Jetties and River Improvements (at fair value) 41,458 23,330
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance 5,296 3,848
Depreciation for the Year 1,526 1,448
Revaluations (1,924) 0
Closing Balance Accumulated Depreciation 4,898 5,296
Net Book Value — Piers, Jetties and River Improvements 36,560 18,034
Buildings and Improvements
Opening Balance 49,342 47,222
Additions 84 2,144
Adjustments 0 130
Retirements 0 (154)
Revaluations 12,442 0
Closing Balance Buildings and Improvements (at fair value) 61,868 49,342
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance 6,447 4,736
Depreciation for the Year 1,757 1,753
Retirements 0 42)
Revaluations (5,047) 0
Closing Balance Accumulated Depreciation 3,157 6,447
Net Book Value — Buildings and Improvements 58,711 42,895

For and on behalf of the office of the Valuer-General Victoria, the valuer, G.M. Brien & Associates Pty. Ltd., determined
that the most appropriate methodology for the revaluation of Piers, Jetties, and River Improvements and Buildings and

Improvements at fair value, was to assess the depreciated replacement cost of any improvements, except for those with
Heritage Victoria listings, in which case, assess the depreciated reproduction cost of any improvements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2003 2002
$’000 $’000
13. Fixed assets continued
13.1 Asset Category continued
Other
Opening Balance 8,305 7,856
Additions 400 483
Adjustments ) 0
Retirements (512) (34)
Revaluations 9 0
Closing Balance Other (at cost)* 8,661 8,305
* Within the asset class Other is included the asset category Antiques, revalued at fair value $1.49 million.
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance 3,283 2,468
Depreciation for the Year 882 824
Retirements (7) 9)
Revaluations 1) 0
Closing Balance Accumulated Depreciation 4,157 3,283
Net Book Value — Other 4,504 5,022
For and on behalf of the office of the Valuer-General Victoria, the valuer, Leonard Joel
Australia, determined that the most appropriate methodology for the revaluation of
Antiques at fair value, was to asses the dollar value each item would be reasonably
expected to realise at public auction.
Works in Progress
Opening Balance 4,805 2,689
Additions 5,546 11,699
Completed Fixed Assets (3,985) (9,583)
Closing Balance Works in Progress (at cost) 6,366 4,805
Total Fixed Assets Net Book Value 831,764 600,232
Summary
Fixed Assets (at fair value) 833,785 487,202
Fixed Assets (at cost) 13,539 138,289
Less Accumulated Depreciation (15,560) (25,259)
Total Fixed Assets Net Book Value 831,764 600,232

The Wiliam Ricketts Sanctuary is located in the Dandenong Ranges Gardens and contains over 70 in-ground Aboriginal
sculptures created by the late William Ricketts. These assets are of cultural and heritage significance. A valuation of these
assets is not able to be determined.
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13.2 Crown Land

Area
Location hectares $ million
You Yangs Regional Park 1,960 1.96
Eildon Water Reserve 533 0.53
Dandenong Police Paddocks 499 4.24
Bay Assets* 498  Not Valued
Lighthouse Reserves 348 1.44
Dandenong Ranges Gardens 278 3.10
Buchan Caves Reserve 260 0.20
Albert Park 234 534.00
Serendip Sanctuary 227 0.70
Plenty Gorge 222 2.88
Werribee Park 164 6.00
Yarra Valley 139 82.91
Vaughan Springs 100 0.19
Rosebud Foreshore 91 4.99
Coolart 79 1.40
Mt Dandenong Observatory Reserve 72 0.48
Olinda Golf Course 34 0.37
Westgate 34 35.29
Maribyrnong Valley 25 0.93
Dandenong Valley 6 1.01
Historic Buildings 5 3.41
Peach Tree Creek 4 0.05
Point Cook/Cheetham 4 0.02
Herring Island 3 7.00
Orbost Rain Forest 1 0.03
Total Crown Land 5,820 693.1

* Represents sea beds located at Swan Bay (220 Ha), Queenscliff (137 Ha) and 141 Ha being sea beds under 31 piers located within Port Phillip Bay

and Western Port.

2003 2002
$°000 $'000
14. Creditors and Accrued Expenses
Current
Creditors and Accruals 10,941 10,687
Deferred Revenue 0 0
Total Creditors and Accrued Expenses 10,941 10,687
15. Provisions
Employee Provisions — Current
Annual Leave 4,890 4,797
Long Service Leave 1,064 980
Total Employee Provisions — Current 5,954 5,777
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2003 2002
$’000 $’000
15. Provisions continued
Employee Provisions — Non-Current
Long Service Leave 11,912 10,982
Total Employee Provisions — Non-Current 11,912 10,982
Total Provisions 17,866 16,759
16. Contributed Capital
Opening Balance — Contributed Capital 284,421 271,935
Capital Contributions from the Department of Sustainability and Environment 2,646 0
Retained Earnings opening balance transfer (refer note 18) 0 7,412
Asset transfer from the Department of Infrastructure 0 5,074
Total Contributed Capital 287,067 284,421

17. Asset Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance 305,415 305,415
Revaluation of Parks Victoria Assets :

Crown Land and Land Improvements 197,221 0
Piers, Jetties and River Improvements 18,300 0
Buildings and Improvements 17,489 0
Other 10 0
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Asset Revaluation Reserve 233,020 0
Total Asset Revaluation Reserve 538,435 305,415
18. Retained Earnings
Movement in Retained Earnings
Opening Balance (6,732) 7,412
Opening balance transferred to Contributed Capital (refer note 16) 0 (7,412)
Add transfer of net surplus/(deficit) from Statement of Financial Performance (889) (6,732)
Closing Retained Earnings (7,621) (6,732)
19. Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by

Operating Activities to Operating Profit/(Loss)
Net Surplus/(Deficit) as per Statement of Financial Performance (889) (6,732)
Depreciation for the Year 6,988 6,783
Provision for doubtful debts expense 52 (157)
Assets provided to/(from) external parties at nil consideration (1,002) (151)
Loss/(Gain) on sale of assets 44 (43)
Change in Assets and Liabilities
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables 624 104
Decrease/(Increase) in other current assets 37 (238)
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 1,107 1,147
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accrued expenses 254 (566)
Net Cash from Operating Activities 7,215 147
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2003 2002
$’000 $’000

20. Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets
20.1 Contingent Liabilities — Other Outstanding Claims

There are other minor claims against Parks Victoria arising out of various matters connected
with its business dealings. 0 0

20.2 Contingent Assets
There are no claims lodged by Parks Victoria arising out of matters connected with its business dealings. 0 0

21. Commitments
21.1 Capital Commitments

Value of Commitments for Capital Expenditure at 30 June 2003 for the supply of Works,
Services and Materials not provided for in the financial statements:

Not Later than One Year 2,464 1,999
Later than One Year and Not Later than Five Years 0 0
Later than Five Years 0 0

Total Capital Commitments 2,464 1,999

21.2 Lease Commitments

Total lease expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for in the financial statements
in relation to non cancellable operating leases is as follows:

Not Later than One Year 5,702 4,582
Later than One Year and Not Later than Five Years 9,240 7,515
Later than Five Years 2,577 2,919

Total Non Cancellable Operating Leases 17,519 15,016

22. Resources Provided Free of Charge

During 2002/03 significant community input in the form of voluntary labour was provided
to Parks Victoria. This input included individual volunteers, Friends groups and community
groups who provided approximately 14,000 days of voluntary support. Volunteers were
involved in a range of activities including tree planting, revegetation, landscaping, camp
hosting, cultural site protection and interpretation, flora and fauna monitoring, nursery
maintenance and propagation, track clearing and construction, visitor information and
interpretation, research and participation in Clean Up Australia Day, Spring Planting Festival
and other events. Volunteers have also been involved through volunteer programs such
as Environment Corp, Green Corp and Conservation Volunteers Australia.

23. Auditor’'s Remuneration
Amounts paid/payable to:
Victorian Auditor-General's Office for the audit of the financial statements 44 43
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

24. Related parties
24.1 Responsible Persons

The names of persons who were Board Members at any time during the year ended 30 June 2003 were:
K Fagg, P Galbally, J Gilmour, E Manahan, R Martin, P Robinson, D Saunders and G Wescott.

The name of the responsible Minister from 1 July 2002 to 30 November 2002 was The Honourable Sherryl Garbutt MP.
The name of the responsible Minister from 1 December 2002 to 30 June 2003 was The Honourable John Thwaites MP.
The name of the accountable officer for the whole of the year ended 30 June 2003 was M Stone.

24.2 Board Members Remuneration

2003 2002

$’000 $'000
Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Board Members from the reporting entity was: 106 117
The number of Board Members of the reporting entity included in this figure is shown below:
Income of: Number Number
$0 to $9,999 1 1
$10,000 to $19,999 6 7
$20,000 to $29,999 1 1
24.3 Executive Officers Remuneration

2003 2002

$’000 $’000
Income received by Executive Officers whose income is more than $100,000
from the reporting entity was: 1,959 1,778
The number of Executive Officers of the reporting entity included in this figure is shown below:
Income of: Number Number
$100,000 to $109,999 1 2
$110,000 to $119,999 3 3
$120,000 to $129,999 2 0
$130,000 to $139,999 1 3
$140,000 to $149,999 2 3
$150,000 to $159,999 3 0
$170,000 to $179,999 1 1
$200,000 to $209,999 1 0
$210,000 to $219,999 0 1
Remuneration includes total employment package (including superannuation) paid plus
bonuses earned for the prior year, annual leave and long service leave accrued over a
number of years and paid on resignation and payments received for fire related activities.
24.4 Other Transactions of Board Members and Board Member-related Entities

Nil Nil

25. Segment Information
The activities of the economic entity entirely relate to park management and are all conducted within the State of Victoria, Australia.
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26. Financial Instruments
Total carrying amount

as per Statement of Aggregate
Financial Position net fair value

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Cash 12,333 7,030 12,333 7,030
Receivables — Trade 2,365 3,027 2,365 3,027
Total Financial Assets 14,698 10,057 14,698 10,057
Trade Creditors and Accruals 10,941 10,687 10,941 10,687
Total Financial Liabilities 10,941 10,687 10,941 10,687

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short term to maturity.
Trade receivables and payables: The carrying amount approximates fair value.
The weighted average cash interest rate earned for 2002-03 was 4.45 per cent.

27. Consolidation Elimination Entries

Intra* Inter**

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
During 2002-03 transactions were undertaken with other
State Government controlled entities that amounted to :
Assets 1,002 147 0 5,074
Liabilities 0 0 0 0
Revenues 110,732 103,335 1,762 700
Expenses 13,540 9,815 5,278 4,994

* Intra transactions are those transactions undertaken within the Department of Sustainability and Environment (formerly the Department of Natural Resources
and Environment) portfolio.

** nter transactions are those transactions undertaken outside the Department of Sustainability and Environment (formerly the Department of Natural Resources
and Environment) portfolio.

28. Post Balance Date Events
Nil
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Financial Review of Operations and Financial Condition

Five Year Financial Summary*

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

$°000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Revenue From Government 103,812 99,519 104,464 99,550 85,201
Other Revenue 23,820 19,945 20,085 30,595 26,387
Total Revenue 127,632 119,464 124,549 130,145 111,588
Net Operating Result (889) (6,732) (2,063) 12,704 (3,229)
Net Cash Flow From Operations 7,215 147 7,571 (4,289) 12,660
Total Assets 846,688 610,550 611,627 607,245 606,520
Total Liabilities 28,807 27,446 26,865 23,705 35,684

* Parks Victoria was formed as a public authority on 3 July 1998.

Some significant aspects of this year’s results were:
* Park Victoria received revenue of $4.6 million to fund fire rehabilitation for 2002/03 and 2003/04.

« Completion of year one of a systematic three-year progressive asset revaluation process, which increased the asset
revaluation reserve by $233.02 million.

« Fire Suppression costs recovered were $5.3 million this year compared to $1.1 milion the previous year.

Subsequent Events
Nil.
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Statutory Certificate

We certify that the Financial Statements of Parks Victoria have
been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management
Act 1994.

In our opinion, the Statement of Financial Position, Statement
of Financial Performance, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes
to the Financial Statements, present fairly the financial
transactions for the year ended 30 June 2003 and the
financial position of Parks Victoria at that date.

At the date of signing the statements we are not aware of any
circumstances which would render any particulars included in
the Statements misleading or inaccurate.

/A

K. Fagg
Chairperson

M. Stone
Chief Executive

Dated at Melbourne, 22 August 2003.

Parks Victoria — Annual Report 2002/03

55



2002/03

2001/02

2000/01

1999/
2000

1998/99

1997/98

56

Parks Victoria 1997-2003, A Snapshot

People, Community and Cultural Heritage

Indigenous partnerships

Agreements were reached with Indigenous communities in relation
to Brambuk the National Park and Cultural Centre and Grampians
National Park Management Plan, and with Wotjobaluk Traditional
Land Council.

Improvements for visitors

The first stage of the Great Ocean Walk (Apollo Bay to Cape Otway)
was opened (planned to extend to Glenample Homestead, Port
Campbell National Park). Major works were completed at Boroka
Lookout (Grampians National Park), Sorrento Pier, Rosebud Foreshore
and other places.

Wildfire restoration
Staff carried out recovery planning for cultural heritage (such as Alpine
huts) damaged or destroyed in the 2003 wildfires.

Yarra shuttle
A free shuttle boat service on the Yarra was successfully trialled over
summer.

Visitor assets assessment

External assessments of the condition and value of Parks Victoria's
visitor assets were completed to assist in future planning and
budgeting.

Metropolitan Open Space Strategy

A strategy called, ‘Linking People + Spaces’ has been finalised, to
protect and preserve Melbourne’s open space and ensure equitable
access for visitors.

A makeover for Rosebud Foreshore

Redevelopment of the foreshore in 2001-02 included a carpark

and new toilet blocks and an extension of the Bay Trail. These works
were identified in the Rosebud Landscape Master Plan (launched

in 2000/01). The plan will guide future environmental and visitor
management and infrastructure improvements.

Renewal of Port Phillip Bay

Major works to piers and jetties including restoration of a portion of
Sandringham and Brighton Breakwaters and reconstruction of decking
on Altona Pier, Sorrento Pier and Queenscliff South Pier. We also
undertook restoration of navigational aids in Port Phillip and
Westernport Bays.

Partnership with the City of Greater Geelong

Completion of an Open Space Strategy and priority capital works in
the Buckley Falls precinct. Major works during the year included the
establishment of 800 metres of trail and two shared pedestrian and
bicycle bridges across the Barwon River.

Twelve Apostles Visitor Facility

The Twelve Apostles Visitor Centre was completed and officially opened.
Built to strict environmental criteria the Centre was a finalist in the 2001
Savewater Award for Water Conservation. The new centre will be a
focus for the one million visitors a year who visit this natural wonder.

San Remo Jetty

Official opening of the rebuilt $1.5 milion San Remo Jetty and Pelican
Walk, which have greatly improved foreshore access and harbour
facilities.

Werribee Precinct Region of Excellence

Parks Victoria led a strategic partnership with the Government, the private
sector and the community to produce a strategy for developing Werribee
into a centre of excellence in conservation management, a major
tourist, education and recreation destination and a focus for events.

‘Victoria’s National Parks, A Centenary History’

Publication (with the State Library of Victoria) of the first definitive
history of our national parks, from their geological origins to the
present day.

Celebrating International Year of Volunteers .
Programs to recognise and thank our volunteers were implemented,
including regional park tours for volunteers and other Friends groups.

Supporting Melbourne’s major events

Provision of support to Melbourne’s major cultural and carnival
events each year including: Australian Formula One Grand Prix;

Sail Melbourne on Port Philip Bay; Moomba on the Yarra; Melbourne
Festival; Spring Racing Carnival.

Flood Restoration Program
Completion of a $2.9 million asset renewal program in East Gippsland
and North East Victoria following the massive floods in 1998.

Better access to Williamstown

In partnership with Hobsons Bay City Council a plan was completed
to improve public access to and from the waterfront while retaining
traditional maritime industry and employment opportunities.

Protecting our visitors

Significant progress in addressing risk associated with built assets,
including completion of the elevated structures risk management
program.

Facilitating a major tourist development in the West
The highly acclaimed New Mansion Hotel at Werribee Park was
completed with the full co-operation of Parks Victoria.

South Channel Fort jetty reconstruction

The reconstruction of this Port Phillip Bay heritage icon was
completed in time for summer, giving visitors access to the fort for
the first time since 1997. Getting a fix on our built assets Completion
of a comprehensive asset inventory of all our built structures.

Victoria’s ‘National Parks Explorer’s Guide’
First ever guide to all the major parks of Victoria in one comprehensive
volume. Published in partnership with the private sector.

Victoria’s Parks Festival

The inaugural Park’s Festival was held at Albert Park in 2000. Now
held anually, and attracting 20,000 visitors, the festival showcases
our parks and their role in conserving the natural environment and
promoting well-being. Koala relocation to save Manna Gums

Growth of Community and Friends Groups

150 Community and Friends Groups were involved in park
management activities across the State, providing a contribution
equivalent to 120 extra full-time staff. A total of $5.3 milion was
provided in 1998-99 by Parks Victoria’s Grants Program to community
groups and local government to improve parklands throughout the
State. Our Grant Programs runs each year.

Private/public sector partnerships

Official opening of the Karkarook Wetlands in the south-east of
Melbourne. Karkarook Park is a major $8 million park, developed
with the support of Boral and Melbourne Water.

Opening of the Donna Buang Rainforest Gallery
A $750,000 walkway among the treetops in Yarra Ranges NP, so visitors
can better appreciate some of the best mature rainforests in Victoria.

Enhancing the Prom

Completion of two major projects at Wilsons Promontory NP — the
iconic pedestrian bridge over Tidal River and a 7.5 kilometre section
of the Great Prom Walk linking the lighthouse to Waterloo Bay. In
2001-02 we completed a major three-year infrastructure initiative of
$1.8 million to reduce environmental impacts of wastewater at Tidal
River and to provide a clean, safe water supply.

Historic bay icons restored

Restoration and relocation of the South Channel Pile Light completed
in Port Philip Bay and major works on the South Channel Fort begun.
Milestones in environmental education

An education website launched and Centres of Education Excellence
developed at four strategic sites.

William Ricketts Sanctuary upgraded to world renowned tourist
venue

A new visitor gatehouse and other facilities were completed at William
Ricketts Sanctuary at a cost of $500,000.

Improvements to the Bay

Reconstruction of St Kilda Breakwater completed, providing a safe
harbour and an enhanced habitat for the penguin colony at a cost

of $800,000, and a major upgrade of piers on Port Philip Bay was
initiated. Linking the Trails More than 37 km of the Bay Trail completed
with funding from the Parks Victoria Community Grants Program.

Parks Victoria — Annual Report 2002/03

Boost for inner suburbs
Popular Yarra Bend Park received a $1 million upgrade.

Innovative addition to the arts

Melbourne’s first ever Environmental Sculpture Park created at Herring
Island as part of the Melbourne Festival. Now a permanent feature of
the arts scene.

Informing the community

Parks Victoria’s Information Line, 13 1963, established at the inception
of Parks Victoria to provides easy access to information about parks,
bays and rivers.
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